Marco Tarasco

# Screening natural resources for mineralogenic and osteogenic bioactivities using *in vitro* and *in vivo* fish systems



**Faculty of Sciences and Technology** 

2016

## Marco Tarasco

# Screening natural resources for mineralogenic and osteogenic bioactivities using *in vitro* and *in vivo* fish systems

Master in Marine Biology Supervisors: Vincent Laizé and M. Leonor Cancela



Faculty of Sciences and Technology

2016

Declaro ser o autor deste trabalho, que é original e inédito. Autores e trabalhos consultados estão devidamente citados no texto e constam da listagem de referências incluída.

I declare to be the author of this work, which is original and unpublished. Authors and studies reviewed are properly cited in the text and contained in the included references list.

(Marco Tarasco)

## **Copyright** ©

"A Universidade do Algarve reserva para si o direito, em conformidade com o disposto no Código do Direito de Autor e dos Direitos Conexos, de arquivar, reproduzir, e publicar a obra, independentemente do meio utilizado, bem como de a divulgar através de repositórios científicos e de admitir a sua cópia e distribuição para fins meramente educacionais ou de investigação e não comerciais, conquanto seja dado o devido crédito ao autor e editor respetivos."

## Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Professor M. Leonor Cancela for her kindness and availability that gave me the possibility to join BIOSKEL lab, giving me the opportunity to meet amazing collaborators and to realise this work.

A special THANKS goes to Vincent, the best supervisor I think every student dreams to have!! You have been on my side every day, not only to share good and bad results, moments of laughs and stress, to solve my difficulties or to elucidate my doubts, but specially as a person I could trust... a friend! Thanks again to make it possible!!

I would like to thank Fátima Duarte (CEBAL, Beja), Vitor Vasconcelos and João Morais (CIIMAR, Porto) that kindly provided extracts allowing the realization of this work.

I would like to thank all my lab colleagues for their help and the nice time that made my work easier and enjoyable. "Gavaia" for is help and nice conversations, Gil for the zebrafish breading and his full availability and in particular, Íris, Arianna, João, Vânia and Luís that not only have been always there in any minute of need, but shared with me extraordinary moments that will always be in my heart!!

An important thank to my special friends Fran and Kalli then Bruno, Alfonso, Barbara and Jo that not only stayed hours and hours hearing my problems, fears or thoughts but have shown to be trustworthy and kind sharing with me from the beginning until the end, amazing moments of laughs, surf, kayak and outdoor trips!

A special hug is for my parents that although they would like to keep me always close, they always believed in my ambitions and never tried to impede my crazy dreams! They supported me every day giving me the possibility to reach this other significant step. Thank you again to be always there for me! Thanks also to my brother Enzo and Eleonora that believed in me, and gave me my amazing little loved niece Lilia!

A significant thank goes to my brother Adriano, that not only saw me growing up but has been my rock in any stormy moments of my life, has been there for me always, opening my mind and giving me the strength that made me become the person I am now! I could never repay you for everything you did for me!! Thanks bro!! Thank also to Maria Teresa that not only shared with me and Adriano amazing moments, travels and experiences, but treated me like a little brother being there for me every time I needed!

Thank you all for sharing this path with me!

### Abstract

Bone disorders affect millions of people worldwide, and available treatments have only a limited efficacy and/or bring undesirable side effects. There is therefore the need for novel compounds with bone anabolic properties. Due to its technical advantages, fish have been successfully used in biomedical and pharmaceutical research to screen for osteogenic compounds. The aim of this work was to evaluate mineralogenic/osteogenic performance of semi-purified fractions and purified molecules from terrestrial plants (cardoon and eucalyptus) and cyanobacteria. VSa13 cell line established from gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) vertebra and capable of in vitro mineralization was used to assess the mineralogenic potential of the extracts, while zebrafish operculum was used to develop and establish a reliable in vivo model to screen molecules for osteogenic activity. Extracts from cardoon, eucalyptus and some cyanobacteria exhibited some moderate mineralogenic effect while triterpenic acids purified from eucalyptus strongly increased mineral deposition. Pro-mineralogenic compounds were further analysed for their bone anabolic action on zebrafish operculum and lipophilic cardoon extract, ursolic acid, oleanolic acid and ethyl acetate fraction of cyanobacteria strain #13 were found to promote an osteogenic effect. While the osteogenicity of ursolic acid has already been reported in mouse, the action of oleanolic acid and cyanobacteria extract on bone formation is revealed here for the first time. The use of a double transgenic line expressing fluorescent proteins under the control of osterix/sp7 and osteocalcin/oc2 promoters to get insights into mechanisms underlying the osteogenic activity of natural compounds has been explored. In vitro and in vivo data generated within the scope of this work have not only demonstrated the potential of natural resources to provide molecules with mineralogenic/osteogenic activity that may be used in pharmaceuticals or nutraceuticals but also the suitability of fish systems to screen for these molecules.

### Keywords

Natural resources; Screening system; Teleost fish; Mineralogenic cell line; Developing operculum.

### Resumo

O tecido ósseo é um tipo especializado de tecido conjuntivo constituído por células e por uma matriz extracelular, que possui como característica única a capacidade de promover a sua mineralização,, o que confere a este tecido uma extrema dureza, permitindo-lhe desempenhar importantes funções quer de suporte mecânico aos músculos, possibilitando o movimento, quer de proteção de órgãos internos, constituindo também uma reserva de iões de cálcio e de fosfato. As patologias mais importantes que afectam o esqueleto incluem doenças metabólicas, que afectam o crescimento através de alterações na formação e remoção óssea, fracturas, deformações várias,, infecções bacterianas e tumores. Entre as doenças metabólicas que afectam milhões de pessoas em todo o mundo e que resultam do desequilíbrio entre a atividade osteoblástica (formação óssea) e a atividade osteoclástica (reabsorção óssea) estão a osteoporose, a osteopetrose, o raquitismo e a doença óssea de Paget. No entanto os tratamentos usados são ineficazes e/ou estão associados a efeitos secundários indesejáveis existindo a necessidade de descobrir novos compostos com a capacidade de reverter os sintomas dessas patologias no osso. Os recursos naturais representam uma fonte valiosa de moléculas bioativas, em particular de compostos osteogénicos. A análise em grande escala de extratos ou moléculas com potenciais efeitos osteogénicos requer o uso de ferramentas in vitro e in vivo optimizadas Organismos aquáticos como o peixe-zebra (zebrafish) têm sido utilizados com sucesso nas investigações biomédica e farmacêutica devido às suas vantagens técnicas em relação a modelos animais mais clássicos, como o ratinho. Por exemplo o peixe-zebra possui um ciclo de vida mais curto, gera um elevado número de descendentes, tem o genoma sequenciado, os embriões são transparentes e desenvolvem-se externamente. Além disso, os peixe-zebra adultos também podem ser facilmente visualizados e manipulados experimentalmente e existem mutantes/transgénicos que permitem a análise da expressão de multiplos genes através de microscopia de fluorescência. O objectivo principal deste trabalho é avaliar a capacidade mineralogénica/osteogénica de fracções semi-purificadas e de moléculas purificadas de plantas terrestres, como o cardo ou o eucalipto, e de cianobactérias. A linha celular VSa13 obtida a partir de vértebras de dourada (Sparus aurata), que possui a capacidade de mineralização in vitro, foi usada para analisar o potencial mineralógenico dos extratos usados, e o opérculo do peixe-zebra foi usado para desenvolver e estabelecer um modelo in vivo adequado para analisar os efeitos de moléculas com atividade osteogénica (através do uso do calcitriol). Os nossos resultados demostraram a existência de um efeito mineralogénico moderado usando concentrações não tóxicas de extratos de cardo, de

eucalipto e de algumas cianobactérias, enquanto que ácidos triterpénicos purificados a partir de amostras de eucalipto (como por exemplo o ácido betulónico, ursólico e oleanólico) aumentam até 6 vezes a deposição de mineral na matrix extracelular da linha celular VSa13. Os nossos resultados mostraram ainda que in vitro, a cinaropicrina, uma lactona sesquiterpénica abundante nos extratos de cardo, promovia um efeito anti-mineralogénico, o que foi mais tarde comprovado utilizando o nosso modelo in vivo. O efeito de compostos pro-mineralogénicos foi posteriormente analisado através do estudo do opérculo do peixe-zebra e os nossos resultados demonstraram que os extratos lipofílicos do cardo, como o ácido ursólico, o ácido oleanólico e a fracção de acetato de etílo da espécie #13 de cianobactérias, possuem efeitos osteogénicos. Apesar da capacidade osteogénica do ácido ursólico já ter sido analisada e comprovada por outros grupos usando um modelo animal de ratinho, a ação do ácido oleanólico, da cinaropicrina e de extratos de cianobactérias na formação óssea nunca tinha sido descrita. O uso de uma linha de duplos transgénicos que expressam uma proteína fluorescente sob o controlo dos promotores do osterix/sp7 ou da osteocalcina/oc2 tem sido determinante para tentar perceber os mecanismos responsáveis por esta atividade osteogénica e sendo a mesma abordagem atualmente aplicada ao estudo do efeito dos ácidos triterpenicos. Os dados gerados a partir das ferramentas in vitro e in vivo utilizadas neste trabalho não só demonstraram o potencial de recursos naturais (terrestres ou marinhos) para a descoberta de moléculas com efeito mineralogénico/osteogénico potencialmente relevantes para as indústrias farmacêutica ou alimentar, como também evidenciaram a importância do uso de animais modelos como o peixe-zebra para a análise do efeito destas moléculas.

### **Palavras-chave**

Recursos naturais; Métodos de "screening"; teleósteos; linha celular mineralogénica, opérculo.

## Table of contents

Acknowledgements i				
Abs	tra	act	ii	
Res	un	no	iii	
1	Iı	ntroduction	1	
1.1		Bone, a major connective tissue of the vertebrate skeleton	1	
1.2		Bone formation and remodelling	2	
1.3		Human bone disorders	3	
1.4		Natural products as source of novel molecules	5	
1.5		Drug screening	6	
1.6		In vivo screening systems	6	
1.7		In vitro screening systems	7	
2	0	Objectives	9	
2.1		Screening fish systems	10	
2.2		Endpoints	11	
3	N	Iaterial and methods	13	
3.1		Maintenance of the cells	13	
3.2		Semi-purified fractions and purified molecules	13	
3.3		Evaluation of the cytotoxicity and cell proliferation	13	
3.4		Evaluation of extracellular matrix mineralization	14	
3.5		Establishment and optimization of the zebrafish operculum as a model to assess for oste	eogenic	
activ	iti	es	14	
3.	5.1	<i>Ethics statement on animal experiments</i>	14	
3.	5.2	2 Zebrafish egg production	14	
3.	5.3	3 Exposure to calcitriol	15	
3.	5.4	4 Image acquisition and morphometric analysis	15	
3.6		Statistical analysis	16	
4	R	Results	17	
4.1		Cytotoxicity and proliferative action of semi-purified fractions and related molecules	17	
4.	1.1	1 Extracts from terrestrial plants	17	
4.	1.2	2 Extracts from cyanobacteria	20	
4.2		Mineralogenic effects of semi-purified fractions and related molecules	22	
4.3		The zebrafish operculum as a model to assess for osteogenic activities	26	

References	46			
Conclusions and future perspectives	43			
Zebrafish transgenic lines to get insights into the osteogenic effect of purified molecules	42			
Osteogenic action of extracts/molecules from natural resources	40			
Mineralogenic action of extracts/molecules from natural resources	39			
Cytotoxicity and proliferative effects	37			
The zebrafish operculum: a powerful system to assess osteogenic bioactivities	35			
Discussion	35			
osteogenic effects				
Tg(osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP) transgenic zebrafish line to get insights into mechanisms under	lying			
Osteogenic effects of semi-purified fractions and related molecules	31			
3.2 Effect of calcitriol on zebrafish operculum mineralization	29			
3.1 Time course of operculum formation	26			
	<ul> <li>3.1 Time course of operculum formation</li></ul>			

### **1** Introduction

### 1.1 Bone, a major connective tissue of the vertebrate skeleton

The most important function of vertebrate skeleton is to provide structural support to the body, but it also serves as a mineral reservoir (calcium and phosphate storage), as a source for blood cells (i.e. hematopoiesis in the bone marrow) in mammals, as a protection for internal organs and as an anchor point for muscular tissue to sustain locomotion.<sup>1,2</sup> Among the different tissues forming the skeleton, bone is a dense connective tissue composed of a mineralized and vascularized collagen matrix and containing four different types of cells: osteoblasts, bone lining cells, osteocytes and osteoclasts (Figure 1.1).<sup>3</sup> Osteoblasts account for 4-6% of the total resident cells and are in charge of bone formation. Bone lining cells are quiescent flat shaped osteoblasts that cover the bone surfaces preventing the direct interaction between osteoclast and bone matrix when bone resorption should not occur. Osteocytes cells are buried in the mineralized bone matrix representing 90-95% of the total cell content, they coordinate the response of bone to mechanical loading and biological signals.<sup>4</sup> Osteoclasts are multinucleated cells with an important role in bone resorption and bone remodelling.<sup>5,6</sup> The origin of bone go back to approximately 420 million years ago, when the Osteichthyes (bony fish), the first organisms exhibiting an ossified endoskeleton with an hard matrix of calcium phosphate, appeared in vertebrate evolution.<sup>7</sup>



**Figure 1.1.** Schematic representation of bone cells. Osteoblast (blue cells) are the cells in charge of bone formation. Haematopoietic cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage differentiate to mature osteoclast (purple cells) and resorb bone. Bone lining cell (green cells) are quiescent flat shaped osteoblast that cover the bone surface to protect it when resorption should not occur. Osteocytes (yellow cells), which are embedded within mineralized bone, communicate via ramification of dendritic processes and orchestrate the spatial and temporal recruitment of osteoblast and osteoclast. Adapted from Nicholls et al.<sup>8</sup>

#### **1.2** Bone formation and remodelling

Bone is formed through different processes of ossification, the most common being endochondral and intramembranous ossification (**Figure 1.2**). In the course of endochondral ossification bone forms through the replacement of a cartilaginous anlage by an osteoid and subsequent mineral deposition, while intramembranous ossification occurs directly from mesenchymal cell condensations without the formation of a cartilage matrix.<sup>7</sup>



**Figure 1.2.** Representation of endochondral and intramembranous ossification processes. **Endochondral ossification** begins with the condensation of mesenchymal cells and the differentiation of central cells in chondrocytes (light blue) that later become hypertrophic (dark blue). Progression to the mature growth plate and formation of a centre of ossification accompanies the development of the perichondrium (yellow), vascular invasion (red) and the differentiation of undifferentiated cells of the periosteum into osteoblast (yellow). During **intramembranous ossification**, undifferentiated mesenchymal cells condense and differentiate into osteoprogenitor cell (pink), which will originate mature osteoblast (yellow) responsible for the deposition and mineralization of bone matrix. Osteoblasts either die by apoptosis or are entrapped in the bone matrix, becoming osteocytes (grey). Adapted from Ornitz & Marie.<sup>14</sup>

Bone is a dynamic tissue that is constantly remodelled to (1) reshape in order to adapt to mechanical loading, (2) heal after fractures or (3) participate in calcium homeostasis.<sup>9</sup> Bone remodelling is a physiological process in which old or damaged bone is removed by osteoclasts and replaced by new bone formed by osteoblasts (**Figure 1.3**). An imbalance between bone resorption and bone formation may occur under certain pathological conditions, which leads to

abnormal bone structure and the development of skeletal disorders that can alter the quality of life.<sup>10</sup> Bone remodelling is carried out by an anatomical structure (the basic multicellular unit) which requires the coordination of the major bone cells type and occurs in four distinct phases. When the osteocytes detect a micro damage or a bone deformation, they transmit signals to recruit osteoclast precursor to the specific bone site. Osteoclast precursors (i.e. mononuclear cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage) get attached to the bone matrix and differentiate into active osteoclast (multinucleated giant cells) in response to elevated concentrations of the macrophage colony-stimulating factor and RANK ligand, starting the resorption process.<sup>11,12</sup> During this phase, pre-osteoblasts are also recruited from the bone matrix or from nearby capillaries, and progressively differentiate and start to produce the osteoid, contributing to bone formation and ensuring the equilibrium between bone removal and formation. At the final stage, the osteoid becomes mineralized concluding the bone remodelling cycle.<sup>13</sup>

### **1.3 Human bone disorders**

Bone disorders will originate from an incorrect bone remodelling process. In human, the most common disorders are the Paget's disease of bone (PDB), osteopetrosis, rickets, osteopenia and osteoporosis. PDB is characterised by a primary increase of osteoclast bone resorption with a secondary marked increase in osteoblast activity and new bone formation, resulting in an abnormal trabecular bone.<sup>15</sup> Osteopetrosis refers to a rare heritable bone remodelling disorder that is characterized by increased bone density caused by a defect in bone resorption by osteoclasts.<sup>16</sup> Rickets disease is a nutritional vitamin D deficiency that results in enhanced bone resorption and increased bone turnover as a consequence of defective mineralization or calcification of bones.<sup>17</sup> Osteopenia and osteoporosis are the most common bone diseases, affecting around 200 millions of people worldwide<sup>18</sup> and are characterised by low bone mass and structural deterioration of the bone, causing bone fragility and increasing susceptibility to fractures.<sup>19</sup> Nowadays there is still no cure for osteoporosis (and also for other bone disorders) but several treatments and drugs have been developed to strengthen bones or slow down bone resorption, increasing the quality of life of aged people.<sup>20,21</sup> Several strategies have been proposed to prevent/limit osteoporosis effects, e.g. follow an active physical activity and take up calcium and vitamin D supplements<sup>22</sup>, and several drugs are available to treat osteoporotic people with fracture risks. Commonly used anti-osteoporotic drugs are (1) bisphosphonates (e.g. Fosamax and Actonel), synthetic compounds with anti-resorptive activity able to decrease bone

turnover and increase bone mineral density<sup>23</sup>, (2) RANKL inhibitors (e.g. Denosumab, a human monoclonal antibody) to block osteoclast differentiation, activation and survival and therefore decrease bone resorption<sup>24</sup>, (3) selective estrogen receptor modulators (e.g. Raloxifene and Bazedoxifene), synthetic molecules that bind to the estrogen receptor thereby acting as estrogen agonists on bone<sup>25</sup> and (4) strontium ranelate (e.g. Protelos), a molecule with anti-resorbing and bone-forming effects, a dual mechanism that results in an improvement in bone microarchitecture and bone strength<sup>26</sup>.



**Figure 1.3.** Schematic representation of bone remodelling. The remodelling process consists of four major distinct phases. **Phase 1:** Osteocytes transmits signals to recruit osteoclast precursors (mononuclear cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage) at sites where bone remodelling should occur. **Phase 2:** Osteoclast precursors fuse into multinucleated active osteoclasts and initiate bone resorption. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and osteoprogenitors are recruited simultaneously. **Phase 3:** Osteoprogenitors differentiate into active osteoblasts and initiate osteoid production. **Phase 4:** Osteoid undergoes mineralization, ending bone remodelling process. In a normal process, bone mass and strength remains the same after each remodelling cycle while in certain pathological conditions, such as osteoprosis, bone mass and strength may be gradually reduced. *BRC*, bone remodelling compartment. Adapted from Feng & McDonald.<sup>13</sup>

All the pharmacological treatments mentioned before are approved to be used in osteoporotic patients showing good results regarding increase in bone formation. However, they also have undesirable side effects such as gastrointestinal and oesophageal irritations, risk of atrial fibrillation, osteonecrosis of the jaws, cases of atypical femoral subtrochanteric/diaphyseal fractures, risk of thrombotic events, nausea, diarrhea and others.<sup>27</sup> Consequently, there is a need to discover novel molecules and treatments that could successfully play an important role in osteoporosis treatments, showing an increase in bone formation with reduced side effects.

### **1.4** Natural products as source of novel molecules

Throughout the ages humans have relied on natural products not only as nutrients but also as medicines for the treatment of a wide spectrum of diseases. Plants have formed the basis of sophisticated traditional medicine systems, with the earliest records dating from around 2600 BC, documenting the uses of approximately 1000 plant-derived substances in Mesopotamia.<sup>28</sup> During the last century, with the discovery and establishment of new scientific tools such as PCR, bioinformatics, DNA genome sequencing, cell cultures facilities but also with the development of oceanographic sampling that allowed the discovery of new resources from the ocean, the scientific world has seen a growing interest in the exploration of natural resources toward the discovery of molecules with biomedical applications.<sup>29,30</sup> Natural products have been, and will always be, important sources of new pharmaceutical compounds. Crude extracts (or substances) extracted from any of these sources typically contains novel, structurally diverse chemical compounds that may have important contribution in medicine areas such as: antiinflammatory, antibacterial, antifungal, antiparasitic, antiviral, anticancer and neurological, immunological, cardiovascular and metabolic related diseases.<sup>31,32</sup> Particularly in the last decade, there is a growing interest to find new drugs with osteogenic or mineralogenic activity with the potential to treat the many skeletal disorders that affect today millions of people.

Despite competition from other drug discovery methods, i.e. chemical synthesis, natural resources are still providing new clinical candidates and drugs that do not exhibit the undesirable side effects of synthetic drugs. Natural products not only complement synthetic molecules but they also exhibit drug relevant features unsurpassable by synthetic compounds.<sup>33</sup> This concept is based on the fact that chemical agents produced by living organisms (particularly the secondary metabolites) have evolved throughout millenniums under an evolutionary pressure, and are therefore more likely to have a specific biological activity than "randomly" assembled, manmade synthetic chemicals.<sup>32</sup>

### 1.5 Drug screening

Drug development is a complex process - identification of candidate molecules, synthesis, animal testing of therapeutic efficacy, drug development, clinical trials, approval, manufacturing and marketing - that can take 12-15 years.<sup>34</sup> Screening for compound toxicity has become a routine practice in drug discovery and development. In general, cytotoxicity endpoints such as membrane integrity, cellular metabolite content, mitochondrial and lysosomal functions are used in conjunction with cell lines for the screening of organ-specific toxicity.<sup>35</sup> Characterizing the biological activity and the pharmacological effects of a compound is the most important step to resolve in drug discovery after having determined drug properties. In the context of screening for compounds with anti-osteoporotic effects, endpoints such as bone mineral density, ratio cortical vs trabecular bone, fractures reduction and biomarkers of bone turnover should be evaluated.<sup>36,37</sup> Validation techniques regarding extracts properties and pharmacological effects range from *in vitro* tools through the use of whole *in vivo* animal systems, to modulation of a desired target in disease patients. While results from each approach (i.e. *in vitro* or *in vivo*) can provide useful information, confidence in the observed outcome is significantly increased by a multi-validation approach in a complementary system.<sup>34</sup>

### **1.6** *In vivo* screening systems

A large variety of mammalian species have been used in bone-related research and drug discovery. Rodents (mouse and rat) due to their high definition and experimental reproducibility as biological, genetic and immunological models, are by far the most commonly used animal in fundamental research.<sup>38</sup> Recently, there has been an increasing interest in the use of teleost fish as an alternative model to complement traditional mammalian systems in biomedical research and drug discovery. In fact, fish, and in particular zebrafish (*Danio rerio*, a small freshwater fish from tropical regions of South and Southeast Asia), possess many advantages that allow quick and less expensive large scale and high-throughput screening for new molecules with pharmacological effects. Zebrafish has a rapid and external embryonic development and 200-300 eggs can be produced every week by a single female. Furthermore, embryos and larvae can be easily accommodated in 96-well plates and they are able to absorb chemicals directly from the water and any skeletogenic/osteogenic effect is easily detected since body at these developmental stages is transparent and allow the visualization of mineralized tissues after proper staining.<sup>39</sup> Additional features such as robustness, high fecundity, small size and short

generation time have reinforced the qualities of zebrafish to become a good laboratory model. In addition, 70% of human genes have a zebrafish ortholog and zebrafish genome have been almost totally sequenced and annotated<sup>40</sup> allowing the development of mutant lines mimicking human disorders, in particular skeleton/bone disorders.<sup>41</sup> Finally, despite few differences (e.g. the presence of acellular/anosteocytic bone in advanced teleosts<sup>42</sup>), molecular mechanisms, pathways underlying the formation and development of skeletal structures are remarkably similar in teleost fish and mammals.<sup>43,44</sup>

Various fish *in vivo* tools are available to study drugs affects (osteogenic or osteotoxic activities) (**Figure 1.4**) and zebrafish mutants modeling human skeletal disorders (e.g. osteogenesis imperfecta, osteoporosis, etc.) are available to contribute to the discovery of therapeutic molecules capable of rescuing these pathologies. Increasing of mineralization/osteogenic activity can be study through morphological image analysis of teleost caudal fin rays regeneration or operculum development<sup>41</sup>. Several zebrafish transgenic lines (expressing fluorescent proteins) are also available for skeletal marker genes such as *barx1*, *col2*, *col10*, *oc2*, *osx*, *runx2*, *sox9* and *sox10*, providing useful tool to study levels and sites of gene expression and get insights into mechanisms underlying molecule osteogenic activity.<sup>45–47</sup>

### **1.7** *In vitro* screening systems

Several *in vitro* systems are available to screen molecules bioactivities such as mineralogenic vertebra-derived cell lines and mineralizing scales that after proper staining can be used to detect mineralization increment.<sup>41</sup> Primary cultures or cell lines established from osteoblast or osteoclast, provide valuable information about processes involved in skeletal development, bone formation and bone resorption. Well established *in vitro* models can be used to multi-validate pharmacological activities from *in vivo* system or vice versa.<sup>48</sup> Several bone-derived cell lines of mammalian origin are available to screen molecule libraries and natural extracts for osteogenic activity.<sup>49–51</sup> However, very few have been established for teleost fish.<sup>52</sup> The first cell line of fish origin was developed by Wolf and Quimby (1962) from the rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri* and since then, numerous other cell lines derived from different species and tissues have been described. Most fish lines have been extracted from different tissues such as skin, gill, heart, liver, kidney, spleen, swim bladder, brain and ovary, providing important contributions as *in vitro* systems in immunology, toxicology, ecotoxicology, endocrinology, virology biotechnology and biomedical research.<sup>53</sup> Particularly the cell lines VSa13 and VSa16, derived from *Sparus aurata* vertebrae<sup>54</sup> have been used to study extracellular matrix mineralization effect of various

molecules, such as retinoic acid<sup>55,56</sup>, polyunsaturated fatty acids<sup>57</sup>, and vanadate.<sup>58</sup> Teleost elasmoid scales can be used to study cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions but also drugs effects on bone formation/resorption since they can be cultured *in vitro* as a bone unit. Among other characteristics (they are easily accessible, translucent and regenerate fast), elasmoid scales contain both osteoblasts and osteoclasts that cohabit around the mineralized matrix resembling *in vivo* conditions.<sup>59–61</sup>



**Figure 1.4.** Fish systems available to study or screen drugs affects (osteogenic or osteotoxic activities). (**A**) Ventral view of whole-mount (alizarin red S - alcian blue) stained zebrafish larvae at 11 days post-fertilization (dpf). Calcified structures appear in red; notochord (Nc), operculum (Op), parasphenoid (Ps) cleithrum (Cl), ceratobranchial 5 (Cb5) and pharyngeal teeth (PT). (**B**) Lateral view of Tg(*oc2:GFP; osx:mCherry*) transgenic zebrafish at 16 dpf. (**C**) Lateral view of AR-S stained regenerating caudal fin of a juvenile zebrafish. Black triangle indicates the amputation plan; Dotted black line indicates regenerated area; Solid black line indicates area of new bone formation. (**D**) AR-S-stained elasmoid scale from the dorsal region of a juvenile gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.). (**E**) AR-S stained mineral nodules deposited within the extracellular matrix of gilthead seabream VSa16 cell line (osteoblast-like cells). Adapted from Laizé et al.<sup>41</sup>

## 2 Objectives

The aim of this work is to evaluate the mineralogenic/osteogenic performance of extracts (semipurified fractions and purified molecules) from terrestrial plants (cardoon and blue gum/eucalyptus) and different strains of cyanobacteria (**Figure 2.1**). VSa13 cell line established from gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* vertebra and capable of *in vitro* mineralization will be used to test mineralogenic potential, while zebrafish operculum (*Danio rerio*) will be used to develop and establish a reliable *in vivo* model to screen molecules for osteogenic activity.

Cardoon (*Cynara cardunculus* L.var. *altilis*) and eucalyptus (*Eucalyptus nitens*) have already been widely explored in terms of pharmaceutical possible activities and both plants were shown to produce molecules with pharmaceutical potential. In eucalyptus bark, lipophilic extracts contain high amounts of triterpenic acids such as betulonic, betulinic, ursolic, and oleanolic,<sup>62,63</sup> that have been recognized as promising compounds for the development of new bioactive agents.<sup>64,65</sup> For example, oleanolic and ursolic acids show anti-tumoral<sup>66</sup> and anti-angiogenic<sup>67</sup> properties; betulinic acid is also known for its anti-tumoral properties<sup>68</sup> and as a precursor for anti-HIV drugs, such as bevirimat.<sup>69,70</sup> In cardoon, cynaropicrin is the most abundant sesquiterpene lactone<sup>71</sup> and has shown great activities such as anti-tumoral<sup>72</sup>, anti-proliferative and anti-inflammatory properties.<sup>73,74</sup>



**Figure 2.1.** Semi-purified fractions and purified molecules tested within the scope of this work were obtained from (a) the bark of the blue gum *Eucalyptus nitens* (image retrieved from www.pinterest.com), (b) the leaves of the cardoon *Cynara cardunculus* L.var. *altilis* (image retrieved from www.en.hortipedia.com) and (c) different strains of cyanobacteria (image adapted from Sihvonen et al.<sup>80</sup> Extracts prepared from cardoon and eucalyptus were kindly provided by Fátima Duarte (CEBAL - Centro de Biotecnologia Agrícola e Agro-alimentar do Alentejo, Beja) and extracts prepared from cyanobacteria by Vitor Vasconcelos and João Morais (CIIMAR - Centro Interdisciplinar de Investigação Marinha e Ambiental, Porto).

Cyanobacteria are a group of photosynthetic prokaryotes and are among the most successful and oldest life forms present on earth.<sup>75</sup> They inhabit almost all the habitats in earth and they have long been known for their ecological and agricultural impact; that is, as the primary colonizers of an ecosystem, their ability to fix atmospheric nitrogen and solubilize phosphates.<sup>76</sup> Numerous studies have been recently initiated to better understand intrinsic bioactivities, and anti-cancerous<sup>77</sup>, anti-bacterial<sup>78</sup>, and anti-HIV<sup>79</sup> activities have already been discovered.

It is worth to mention that although some of the compounds tested in this work have shown mineralogenic/osteogenic activity in mammalian systems, none of those have been tested in fish system or even examined yet.

### 2.1 Screening fish systems

VSa13 cell line derived from vertebra of the gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) (**Figure 2.2A**) and capable of *in vitro* mineralization<sup>54</sup> will be used to assess mineralogenic activity of selected extracts, fractions and molecules but also cytotoxicity and proliferative potential. Mineral deposition in extracellular matrix of VSa13 cells occurs within 3 weeks and is easily detected through alizarin red S staining and quantified by spectrophotometry.<sup>54</sup> Zebrafish (*Dario rerio*) larvae undergoing skeletogenesis will be used to assess osteogenic activity of selected extracts (**Figure 2.2B**).



**Figure 2.2.** (A) Micrograph of vertebra-derived gilthead seabream VSa13 cell culture at confluence, in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS. The bar represent 100  $\mu$ m. (B) Zebrafish larvae undergoing skeletogenesis at 11 dpf. Coloration in red (alizarin red s stain) is specific for calcified structures.

Larvae will be exposed chronically for several days (to be determined within the scope of this work) to the extracts at concentrations selected from *in vitro* assays. Changes in the area of the operculum will be determined through morphometric analysis of alizarin red fluorescence pictures as system tool to detect increments regarding mineralization and osteogenesis. Although

both systems cannot be compared to robotic high-throughput screening machines available in major pharmaceutical factories, they still present several characteristics that allow the study of a great number of molecules. The use of multi-well plates give the possibility to test different molecules at the same time and the small dimension of the wells require little extracts quantity, reducing the costs and wastes. The experimental design can be planned easily and more than one assay can be performed at the same time.

### 2.2 Endpoints

Cytotoxicity will be first evaluated in confluent and sub-confluent cultures of VSa13 cells exposed to 5 different concentrations (chronic exposure for 9 days), then non-toxic concentrations will be evaluated for proliferative action (chronic exposure for 9 days) and mineralogenic performance (chronic exposure for 21 days). XTT assay will be used to assess cytotoxicity and proliferation endpoints while alizarin red S staining will be performed to detect extracellular matrix mineralization (**Figures 2.3**). Regarding the *in vivo* experiment, fish will be exposed to each extract/fraction/molecule (day of exposure to be determined within the scope of this work) and stained with alizarin red S staining. Coloration will be imaged and bone formation will be assessed through morphometric analysis of the operculum, eye, iris, distance snout-cleithrum and the head (exact day of image acquisition to be determined). Furthermore, fish death/survival will be determined to evaluate the toxicity of the molecules (**Figures 2.3 and 2.4**).



Figure 2.3. Experimental design of the *in vitro* assay with endpoints and expected outputs.

### In vivo assay



Figure 2.4. Experimental design of the *in vivo* assay with endpoints and expected outputs. dpf, days post-fertilization; a, 3 days of drug exposure; b, 6 days of drug exposure; c, 9 days of drug exposure.

## **3** Material and methods

### **3.1** Maintenance of the cells

VSa13 cell line - previously established from gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* vertebra<sup>54</sup> - was maintained at 33°C in a 10% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified atmosphere and cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM; Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% FBS (fetal bovine serum; Sigma-Aldrich), 1% penicillin-streptomycin, 1% L-glutamine and 0.2% fungizone (all from Invitrogen). Cell cultures at confluence were divided 1:8 every 3 days using trypsin-EDTA solution (1.1 mM EDTA and 0.2% trypsin in PBS; Invitrogen).

### **3.2** Semi-purified fractions and purified molecules

Lipophilic (dichloromethane) fractions of cardoon leaves (*Cynara cardunculus* L. var. *altilis*) and eucalyptus bark (*Eucalyptus nitens*) and purified triterpenic acids (i.e. betulinic, betulonic, ursolic and oleanolic acids) were kindly provided by Fátima Duarte (Centro de Biotecnologia Agrícola e Agro-Alimentar do Alentejo (CEBAL) / Instituto Politećnico de Beja (IPBeja), Beja). Semi purified fractions of cyanobacteria strains extracted using ethyl acetate (100%) were kindly provided by Vitor Vasconcelos and João Morais (Centro Interdisciplinar de Investigação Marinha e Ambiental (CIIMAR), Porto). Semi-purified fractions and purified molecules were dissolved in appropriate vehicle at a concentration of 100 or 10 mg/mL (stock) then diluted directly into culture medium or fish bath at selected concentrations.

### **3.3** Evaluation of the cytotoxicity and cell proliferation

Cytotoxicity and cell proliferation were measured upon exposure of the cells to different concentrations of the extracts using XTT Cell Proliferation kit (AppliChem). VSa13 cells were seeded in a 96-well plate (Nunc) at a density of  $1 \times 10^3$  cells per well (proliferation) or  $3 \times 10^3$  cells per well (cytotoxicity) and further incubated under regular growth conditions for 24 h (proliferation) or until confluence (cytotoxicity). Culture medium was supplemented with the extracts from 1000x stocks then filtered (0.2 µm) and applied to the cells. Control cells were exposed to vehicle, i.e. dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) or ethanol (EtOH), at a concentration of 0.1%. Treatments were applied for 9 days and renewed every 3.5 days. At the end of the treatment, 50 µL of the XTT reaction mixture and 100 µL of fresh medium were added to each

well and absorbance was determined at 460 nm and at 620 nm after 2 h of incubation using a Synergy 4 multiplate reader (BioTek).

### **3.4** Evaluation of extracellular matrix mineralization

Extracellular matrix mineralization was determined through alizarin red S staining after 21 days of exposure to the different extracts. VSa13 cell were seeded in 12-well plates (Nunc) at a density of  $2.5 \times 10^4$  cells per well and incubated in regular condition until confluency. Then extracellular matrix mineralization was induced by supplemented culture medium with 50 µg/mL of ascorbic acid, 10 mM β-glycerophosphate and 4 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Extracts, molecules or vehicles (0.1% DMSO or 0.1% EtOH) were applied at the time of renewal of the mineralogenic medium, i.e. every 3.5 days. At the end of the treatment, medium was discarded and cells were washed 3 times with PBS. Cells were then fixed at 4 °C for 1 h in 4% formaldehyde (prepared in PBS, pH 7.4). Fixative was discarded and cells were washed 3 times with Milli-Q water (Millipore). Cells were then stained with 40 mM AR-S (pH 4.2) for 15 min at room temperature and unbound dye was removed through multiple washes with Milli-Q water (until effluent is clear), then distained with 10% cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC; pH 7.0). Crystal-bounded stain was quantified through the measurement of the absorbance (540 nm) in CPC suspensions. All chemicals were from Sigma-Aldrich unless otherwise

## **3.5** Establishment and optimization of the zebrafish operculum as a model to assess for osteogenic activities

#### **3.5.1** Ethics statement on animal experiments

All the experimental procedures involving animals followed the EU Directive 2010/63/EU and National Decreto-Lei 113/2013 legislation for animal experimentation and welfare. Animal handling and experiments were performed by qualified operators accredited by the Portuguese Direção-Geral de Alimentação e Veterinária (DGAV).

### 3.5.2 Zebrafish egg production

Sexually mature zebrafish (AB wild-type strain, and Tg(*osterix:mCherry*) and Tg(*osteocalcin:EGFP*) transgenic lines) were crossed using an in-house breeding programme.

Fertilized eggs were transferred into a 1-L container with static water conditions and the following parameters: temperature  $28 \pm 0.1$  °C, pH 7.5 ± 0.1, conductivity  $700 \pm 50 \mu$ S, NH<sub>3</sub> and NO<sub>2</sub> lower than 0.5 mg/L, NO<sub>3</sub> at 5 mg/L and a photoperiod of 14-10 h light-dark. Methylene blue (0.01% stock solution) was added to reduce bacterial and fungal growth. At 5 days post-fertilization (dpf), water was renewed and larvae fed with *Artemia* (5 nauplii per mL; strain AF from INVE Aquaculture).

#### **3.5.3** Exposure to calcitriol

At appropriate times, larvae were transferred to 6 well-plates (AB larvae, 15 larvae in 10 mL of water) or to plastic cups (*osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP* double transgenic larvae, 100 larvae in 70 mL of water) and exposed to either 0.01 fg/mL of calcitriol (1 $\alpha$ ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub>; Sigma-Aldrich) or to 0.1% ethanol (vehicle; Merck). Treatment medium was renewed (70% of the total volume) every day until the end of the treatment. At that time, larvae were sacrificed with a lethal dose of MS-222 (0.6 mM, pH 7.0, Sigma-Aldrich), stained for 15 min at room temperature with 0.01 % alizarin red S (AR-S) prepared in milliQ water (pH 7.4), and washed twice with water for 5 min (method adapted from Bensimon-Brito et al.<sup>81</sup>).

#### **3.5.4** Image acquisition and morphometric analysis

AB larvae stained with AR-S were imaged using a MZ 7.5 fluorescence stereomicroscope (Leica) equipped with a green light filter ( $\lambda_{ex} = 510-550$  nm) and a black-and-white F-View II camera (Olympus). Images were acquired using the following parameters: exposure time 1 s, gamma 1.00, image format 1376×1035 pixels. Fluorescence images were analyzed using ImageJ 1.49v software.<sup>82</sup> For morphometric analysis, color channels of the RGB picture were split. Red channel (8-bit) was used for further analyses. Brightness and contrast were optimized to enhance the visibility of cranial bones, in particular the operculum. The minimum and maximum displayed pixel values were set to 0 and 69 respectively. The area of the head and operculum, the length between the snout to the cleithrum, and the width and height of the eye and iris, were determined using built-in tools. The areas of the eye and iris were calculated using the ellipse area formula ( $\frac{1}{2}$  width ×  $\frac{1}{2}$  height ×  $\pi$ ). Transgenic larvae Tg(*osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP*) were imaged using a SteREO Lumar.V12 fluorescence stereomicroscope (Zeiss) equipped with GFP ( $\lambda_{ex} = 470-440$  nm;  $\lambda_{em} = 525-550$  nm) and TxRed ( $\lambda_{ex} = 560-540$  nm;  $\lambda_{em} = 630-675$  nm) filters and an AxioCam MR3 camera (Zeiss). Photographs were acquired according to the following

parameters: 16-bit black-and-white image, exposure time 120 ms (bright field) or 1 s (fluorescence), gamma 1.00, image format 692×520 pixel, binning 2x2 and 20 Z-stacks (fluorescence). For both red and green channels, Z-stacks were merged and aligned through the extended focus built-in tool of the AxioCam software. Fluorescence images (red and green channels) were 8-bit transformed in ImageJ and both the number of fluorescent pixels (pixel values from 0 to 255 after background subtraction) and the area of fluorescence were determined for each operculum using built-in tools (see example in **Figure 3.1**). The area of the head was determined from bright-field acquisitions.



**Figure 3.1.** Morphometric analysis of the fluorescence signals in the operculum of calcitriol-treated larvae of the double-transgenic zebrafish line Tg(osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP). Red (osx:mCherry) and green (oc2:EGFP) channels were merged and the following parameters were determined using built-in tools in ImageJ: (**A**) Total area of red (red dashed area) and green (green dashed area) fluorescence, and (**B**) number of red or green pixels within the operculum area after background subtraction (white dashed area). Scale bar represents 50 µm.

### **3.6** Statistical analysis

Statistical differences were determined through one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (p < 0.05). Differences between values from vehicle and calcitriol-treated larvae were analyzed through unpaired *t*-tests with Welch's correction (p < 0.05). The correlation between selected morphometric parameters was evaluated through a simple linear regression and the R squared. Statistical analyses were performed using Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, Inc. La Jolla, CA).

### **4** Results

## 4.1 Cytotoxicity and proliferative action of semi-purified fractions and related molecules

### 4.1.1 Extracts from terrestrial plants

Cytotoxic and proliferative effects of semi-purified fractions and related molecules were evaluated at 9 days (endpoint to assess toxicity and proliferation) using a wide range of concentrations, i.e. 100, 10, 1, 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL for semi-purified fractions and 10, 1, 0.1, 0.01  $\mu$ g/mL for pure molecules. Cytotoxicity was tested in confluent cell cultures (high cell density), while proliferative effect was assessed in sub-confluent cell cultures (low cell density). Vehicles, i.e. dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) or ethanol (EtOH) were tested at a concentration of 0.1% and shown not to affect cell survival (**Figure 4.1**).



**Figure 4.1.** Cytotoxicity and proliferative effect of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and ethanol (EtOH), the vehicles used to solubilize semi-purified fractions and purified molecules. *No vehicle*, non-supplemented cell culture medium (DMEM); No vehicle value was set at 100%. *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (p < 0.05).

Semi-purified fractions (i.e. lipophilic fraction of cardoon extract and dichloromethane fraction of eucalyptus extract) exhibited some toxic activity at the highest concentration tested (100  $\mu$ g/mL) with a survival rate below 20%, while other concentrations did not affect cell survival. While cynaropicrin, betulonic and ursolic acids affected cell survival at the highest concentration (10  $\mu$ g/mL; survival rate of 65, 70 and 25%, respectively), betulinic and oleanolic acids did not show any cytotoxic effects at any of the concentrations tested (**Figures 4.2 and 4.3**). None of the semi-purified fractions and purified molecules were found to stimulate cell proliferation at any of the concentrations tested. On the contrary, anti-proliferative effects – or

most probably cytotoxic effects associated to low cell density – were observed at 100, 10 and 1  $\mu$ g/mL for the semi-purified fractions (cardoon and eucalyptus), at 10 and 1  $\mu$ g/mL for cynaropicrin and at 10  $\mu$ g/mL for triterpenic acids (**Figures 4.2 and 4.4**).



**Figure 4.2.** Cytotoxicity of semi-purified fractions (CA, EU) and purified molecules (BI, BO, UR and OL) assessed in confluent VSa13 cell cultures through the XTT cell survival assay. Value of vehicle (DMSO) was set at 100%. *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*  $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ ; \*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.0001$ ). CA, cardoon; EU, eucalyptus; BI, betulinic acid; BO, betulonic acid; UR, ursolic acid; OL, oleanolic acid.



**Figure 4.3.** Proliferative effects of semi-purified fractions (CA, EU) and purified molecules (BI, BO, UR and OL) assessed in sub-confluent VSa13 cell cultures through the XTT cell survival assay. Value of the vehicle was set at 100%. *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*\* $p \le 0.01$ ; \*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.0001$ ). CA, cardoon; EU, eucalyptus; BI, betulinic acid; BO, betulonic acid; UR, ursolic acid; OL, oleanolic acid.



**Figure 4.4.** Cytotoxicity (**A**) and proliferative effect (**B**) of cynaropicrin assessed in confluent or sub-confluent VSa13 cell cultures, respectively, through the XTT cell survival assay. Value of the vehicle was set at 100%. *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*\*  $p \le 0.01$ ; \*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.0001$ ).

### 4.1.2 Extracts from cyanobacteria

Because the amount of material received from our collaborators was limited, cytotoxicity and proliferative effect of ethyl acetate fractions will be evaluated in the same assay based on low density cell cultures. Among the 8 different strains of cyanobacteria, ethyl acetate fractions E9 and E10 exhibited some cytotoxicity at 10  $\mu$ g/mL (survival rate of 80%) while E12 fraction affected cell survival at both 10 and 1  $\mu$ g/mL (survival rate of 57% and 80%, respectively). At 0.01  $\mu$ g/mL fraction E12 appeared to slightly affect cell number, although this effect may not be of biological significance since the higher concentration 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL did not show any effect (**Figure 4.5**).



**Figure 4.5.** Proliferative effects of ethyl acetate fractions prepared from different cyanobacteria strains assessed in sub-confluent VSa13 cell cultures through the XTT cell survival assay. Value of the vehicle was set at 100%. *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*\* $p \le 0.01$ ; \*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.0001$ ).

### 4.2 Mineralogenic effects of semi-purified fractions and related molecules

Highest non-toxic concentrations, i.e. 1 and 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL for semi-purified fractions and purified molecules, respectively, were evaluated for their effect on extracellular matrix mineralization after 21 days of exposure (endpoint to assess ECM mineralization by alizarin red S staining). Vehicles (DMSO and EtOH) did not statistically change the extent of mineral deposition when compared with control condition (culture medium supplemented with mineralogenic cocktail) (**Figure 4.6**).



**Figure 4.6.** Mineralogenic effect of the vehicles assessed in mineralizing VSa13 cell cultures through alizarin red S staining. *No vehicle*, non-supplemented cell culture medium (DMEM); *MIN*: DMEM supplemented with the mineralogenic cocktail (ascorbic acid,  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate and CaCl<sub>2</sub>); *DMSO*, dimethyl sulfoxide; *EtOH*, ethanol. Changes in ECM mineralization are presented as fold change over the control and *asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.0001$ ).

Semi-purified fractions of cardoon (0.1  $\mu$ g/mL) and eucalyptus (1  $\mu$ g/mL) were found to slightly increased mineralization by 1.56 and 1.96 folds over the respective controls. Because it exhibited some apparent cytotoxicity at 1  $\mu$ g/mL, cardoon fraction was tested again at 0.316 and 0.0316  $\mu$ g/mL and the higher concentration (0.316  $\mu$ g/mL) was found to increase ECM mineralization by 3.28 folds over the control. Regarding triterpenic acids, while betulinic acid did not affect ECM mineralization, betulonic, oleanolic and ursolic acids strongly increased mineral deposition by 4.27, 2.71 and 5.24 folds, respectively, at 1  $\mu$ g/mL. At a lower concentration (0.1  $\mu$ g/mL), only ursolic acid stimulated ECM mineralization (2.05 folds over the control; **Figure 4.7**).



**Figure 4.7.** Mineralogenic effect of semi-purified fractions (CA, EU) and purified molecules (BI, BO, UR and OL) assessed in mineralizing VSa13 cell cultures through alizarin red S staining. Changes in ECM mineralization are presented as fold change over the control and *asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*  $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.0001$ ). CA, cardoon; EU, eucalyptus; BI, betulinic acid; BO, betulonic acid; UR, ursolic acid; OL, oleanolic acid.

Interestingly, cynaropicrin was shown to be anti-mineralogenic at both concentrations tested (0.1 and 0.01  $\mu$ g/mL), decreasing mineral deposition by 2.13 and 2.32 folds, respectively, over the control (**Figure 4.8**).



**Figure 4.8.** Mineralogenic effect of cynaropicrin assessed in mineralizing VSa13 cell cultures through alizarin red S staining. Changes in ECM mineralization are presented as fold change over the control and *asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*\*  $p \le 0.01$ ; \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ ).

Mineralogenic effect of ethyl acetate fractions from cyanobacteria was tested at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ g/mL, and only fractions E8, E12 and E13 were found to slightly increase ECM mineralization by 1.56, 1.58 and 1.55 folds over the control, respectively (**Figure 4.9**).



**Figure 4.9.** Mineralogenic effect of semi-purified fractions prepared from cyanobacteria assessed in mineralizing VSa13 cells through alizarin red S staining. Changes in ECM mineralization are presented as fold change over the control and *asterisks* indicate values statistically different from the vehicle (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*\*  $p \le 0.01$ ; \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ ).

#### 4.3 The zebrafish operculum as a model to assess for osteogenic activities

### 4.3.1 Time course of operculum formation

Zebrafish larvae (AB line) were sampled every 24 h from 4 to 15 dpf and stained with AR-S to reveal mineralized bone structures, in particular the operculum. Fluorescence images of the lateral view of the head of each larvae were acquired (Figure 4.10A) and the morphometry of the different elements and structures was analyzed (Figure 4.10B). The area of the head (A1) and operculum (A2), the length from the snout to the cleithrum (L1), the width and height of both eye and iris (L2/L3 and L4/L5, respectively) were determined and the suitability of the different measurements to correct for inter-specimen variability in operculum area was assessed from simple linear regressions (Figure 4.11). While both the area of the iris and the eye and the length between snout and cleithrum exhibited a good correlation with the area of the operculum  $(R^2 of 0.88, 0.90 and 0.92, respectively)$ , the area of the head appeared to be the most accurate parameter to correct for inter-specimen variability of the operculum area ( $R^2 = 0.94$ ) (Figure 20). The time course of operculum formation was monitored from 4 to 15 dpf (Figure 4.12A). The operculum area was plotted in function of time either as raw data (Figure 4.12B) or after correction for the head area (operculum area divided by the head area, O/H) (Figure 4.12C) and the coefficient of variance (CV) was estimated. Averaged CV of all time points was markedly reduced upon correction for head size  $(51.9 \pm 24.1 \% \text{ versus } 27.0 \pm 9.4 \%)$ , indicating that variation in operculum area due to inter-specimen variability in sampled population could be efficiently corrected. Analysis of corrected operculum area during zebrafish development (Figure 4.12C), revealed four different growth phases: 3-6 dpf, 6-9 dpf, 9-13 dpf and 13-15 dpf. The operculum area increased during the first and third phase by 208 % and 85% respectively, while the other two phases were characterized by a slow growth (10 % and 2 %, respectively).



Figure 4.10. (A) Principal bone structures in the cranium of 11-dpf zebrafish after alizarin red staining. Structures used in the morphometric analysis, i.e. operculum, snout, eye, iris and cleithrum, are outlined in white, while the names of other bony structures are indicated in grey. (B) Schematic representation of the head structures assessed through morphometric analysis and parameters measured. A1, area of the skull; A2, area of the operculum; L1, length from the snout to the cleithrum; L2, eye width; L3, eye height; L4, iris width; L5, iris height.



**Figure 4.11.** Correlation between the different morphometric parameters: Area of the operculum *vs* area of the head, area of the operculum *vs* length snout-cleithrum, area of the operculum *vs* area of the eye and area of the operculum *vs* area of the iris. The coefficient of linear regression, the R squared, is indicated for each correlation. Dashed lines indicate confidence intervals at 95% and solid lines indicate the best-fit of the values.



**Figure 4.12.** Time course of zebrafish operculum development. Fluorescence of the opercula stained with alizarin red was imaged from 4 to 15 days post-fertilization (**A**) and area of the operculum and head was determined from 10-15 fish for each time point (**B**). Area of the operculum was normalized with the area of the head (*ratio O/H*, **C**) and insert illustrates the different phases of operculum development with the growth increments expressed in %. The coefficient of variance (*CV*) is indicated in each graph. Values are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. White bar represents 100 µm.

#### 4.3.2 Effect of calcitriol on zebrafish operculum mineralization

In order to establish a fast and reliable method to screen for the effects of organic extracts, semipurified fractions or molecules with osteogenic activities, zebrafish larvae were treated with 0.01 fg/mL of calcitriol, a well-known osteogenic drug. Its effect on operculum formation was assessed using the morphometric analysis presented previously and compared to that of ethanol (0.1%), used as control. Larvae were exposed to calcitriol for different periods (i.e. 3, 6 and 9 days) and exposure was initiated at different developmental stages (i.e. 3, 5 and 8 dpf; **Figure 4.13**). It is important to mention that calcitriol did not affect the area of the head, the parameter used to correct operculum area (**Figure 4.14**). Exposure to calcitriol during 3 days stimulated the operculum formation/mineralization when initiated at 3 or 5 dpf, with an increase over control of  $41.80 \pm 7.83$  % and  $36.46 \pm 6.37$  %, respectively (**Figures 4.13A, 4.13B**). However, when the exposure started at 8 dpf no significant effects were observed in the operculum size (**Figure 4.13C**). A longer exposure to calcitriol (6 days) also increased operculum area when initiated at 3 and 5 dpf, with an increase over control of  $58.42 \pm 23.73$  % and  $74.37 \pm 21.68$  %, respectively (**Figures 4.13D** and **4.13E**), while onset at 8 dpf did not significantly affect operculum size (**Figure 4.13F**). Operculum area was also increased upon exposure to calcitriol for 9 days (**Figures 4.13G** and **4.13H**) but this increase was only statistically significant when exposure was initiated at 3 dpf (90.56 ± 30.59 %). Generally, fish survival (indicated in **Figure 4.13** by n, the number of fish that survived the exposure out of the 15 larvae initially present) was affected by exposure longer than 3 days and exposure initiated after 5 dpf, supporting the suitability of a short and early exposure of the larvae.



**Figure 4.13.** (A-H) Effect of calcitriol exposure (duration and onset) on the osteogenic development of zebrafish operculum. (I) Scheme recapitulating the different parameters of calcitriol exposure. *Light grey*, operculum area of control fish exposed to 0.1% ethanol (vehicle); *Dark grey*, operculum area of fish exposed to 0.01 fg/mL of calcitriol. Number of zebrafish larvae (n) is indicated below each column. *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different according to Student's *t* test (\* p < 0.05; \*\*\* p < 0.001; \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). Values are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.



**Figure 4.14.** (A-H) Effect of calcitriol exposure (duration and onset) on the development of zebrafish head. (I) Scheme recapitulating the different parameters of calcitriol exposure. *Light grey*, operculum area of control fish exposed to 0.1% ethanol (vehicle); *Dark grey*, operculum area of fish exposed to 0.01 fg/mL of calcitriol. Number of zebrafish larvae (n) is indicated below each column. EtOH and calcitriol values were not significantly different (Student's *t* test, p < 0.05). Values are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

### 4.4 Osteogenic effects of semi-purified fractions and related molecules

To assess their osteogenic effects, semi-purified fractions and purified molecules were tested *in vivo* at concentrations found to have a mineralogenic effect and using conditions previously optimized (see previous sections). Zebrafish larvae at 3 dpf were exposed for 3 days to mineralogenic concentrations and treatments were renewed every day until 6 dpf, when larvae were imaged and the corrected operculum area was determined. In all experiments, calcitriol at 0.01 fg/mL was used as a control for positive osteogenic effect. Vehicles (DMSO and EtOH) did not significantly affect the area of zebrafish operculum (data not shown). While semi-purified fraction from eucalyptus at 1  $\mu$ g/mL did not exhibit any osteogenic activity, that of cardoon, also at 1  $\mu$ g/mL, stimulated the area of zebrafish operculum by approximately 15% over the area of control fish. All purified molecules were tested at 1  $\mu$ g/mL at the exception of betulonic acid which was toxic to zebrafish larvae at this concentration and was therefore tested at 0.5  $\mu$ g/mL.

While betulinic and betulonic acids did not affect operculum growth, ursolic and oleanolic acid strongly increased the area of the operculum by 63% and 60%, respectively (**Figure 4.15**). A mixture of the 4 triterpenic acids mimicking the proportion found in crude extracts of the shining gum *Eucalyptus nitens* (i.e. BI 36.2 %, BO 26.6 %, UR 17.88 %, OL 19.32 %) was also tested *in vivo* to evaluate a possible synergic effect, but no significant effect was observed (data not showed). In contrast to the osteogenicity of cardoon extract, cynaropicrin exhibited an antiosteogenic effect and decreased operculum area by 27% at 0.1  $\mu$ g/mL and 18% at 0.01  $\mu$ g/mL (**Figure 4.16**). Among the different ethyl acetate fractions from cyanobacteria, only fractions E8, E12 and E13 (those shown to increase ECM mineralization) were tested *in vivo*, and only E13 increased the area of the operculum of 23% over control fish at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ g/mL (**Figure 4.17**).



**Figure 4.15.** Osteogenic effect of semi-purified fractions (CA, EU) and purified molecules (BI, BO, UR and OL) assessed in developing zebrafish larvae through alizarin red S staining of the operculum. Changes in operculum area are expressed as percentages over the respective control (DMSO or EtOH). *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different from vehicle values (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*\*  $p \le 0.01$ ; \*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ ). CA, cardoon; EU, eucalyptus; BI, betulinic acid; BO, betulonic acid; UR, ursolic acid; OL, oleanolic acid; Vit. D, calcitriol.



**Figure 4.16.** Osteogenic effect of cynaropicrin assessed in developing zebrafish larvae through alizarin red S staining of the operculum. Changes in operculum area are expressed as percentages over the respective control (DMSO or EtOH). *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different from vehicle values (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*  $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ ; \*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.0001$ ).



**Figure 4.17.** Osteogenic effect of cyanobacteria semi-purified fractions (E8, E12 and E13) assessed in developing zebrafish larvae through alizarin red S staining of the operculum. Changes in operculum area are expressed as percentages over the respective control (DMSO or EtOH). *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different from vehicle values (one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test (\*\*  $p \le 0.001$ ; \*\*\*\*  $p \le 0.0001$ ).

## 4.5 Tg(*osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP*) transgenic zebrafish line to get insights into mechanisms underlying osteogenic effects

Zebrafish transgenic lines expressing green and red fluorescent proteins under the control of the promoters of two osteoblast markers – *osterix* (*osx* or *sp7*), a marker of immature osteoblasts and *osteocalcin 2* (*oc2*), a marker of mature osteoblasts – were used to get insights into the cellular

dynamics underlying the osteogenic effects of calcitriol observed during operculum formation to evaluate the applicability of this system for further molecules screenings. Double transgenic larvae Tg(osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP) at 3 dpf were exposed for 3 days to 0.01 fg/mL of calcitriol or to 0.1% ethanol (control) and the effects on osteoblasts were assessed through the analysis of fluorescence images at 6 dpf (Figure 4.18A). Exposure to calcitriol increased the operculum area positive for osx:mCherry by  $32.28 \pm 6.76$  % over the control (Figure 4.18A and 4.18B), an increase similar to the one observed in AR-S-stained wild-type fish exposed to calcitriol in the same conditions (Figure 4.18A), suggesting that the density of immature osteoblast was probably unaltered by calcitriol. Exposure to calcitriol also increased the operculum area positive for oc2:EGFP (Figure 4.18A and 4.18C), although a stronger effect was observed (83.61  $\pm$ 10.69 % over control), indicating that the density of mature osteoblast was stimulated upon calcitriol treatment. An analysis of the number of fluorescent pixels per operculum area further confirmed the specific effect of calcitriol on mature osteoblast population (515.20  $\pm$  164.50 % increase in calcitriol-treated fish over the control; Figure 4.18E), while effect on immature osteoblast population was mild  $(36.43 \pm 13.34 \%$  increase in calcitriol-treated fish over the control; Figure 4.18D).



**Figure 4.18.** Effects of calcitriol exposure (from 3 to 6 dpf) on the expression of *osterix* and *osteocalcin 2* in the operculum of double-transgenic zebrafish larvae Tg(*osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP*). (A) Fluorescence stereomicroscopy images of the operculum from control (0.1% ethanol; EtOH) and calcitriol-treated (0.01 fg/mL) larvae. Red (*osx:mCherry*) and green (*oc2:EGFP*) channels were merged. Scale bar represents 50 µm. (**B-C**) Corrected red and green opercular area (percentage over the control). (**D-E**) Number of red and green pixels per operculum area. *Asterisks* indicate values statistically different according to Student's *t* test (\* p < 0.05; \*\* p < 0.01; \*\*\*\* p < 0.0001). Values are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean.

### **5** Discussion

The purpose of this work was to evaluate mineralogenic and osteogenic activities in semipurified fractions from several natural resources – cardoon, eucalyptus and cyanobacteria – but also to test the ability of molecules purified from these fractions – triterpenic acids and a sesquiterpene lactone – to increase extracellular matrix mineralization *in vitro* and operculum growth *in vivo*. Data related to the cytotoxic, proliferative, mineralogenic and osteogenic effects of these fractions and molecules were collected. In parallel, a methodology to assess osteogenic bioactivities was optimized with calcitriol and the suitability of a double transgenic line expressing fluorescent proteins under the control of *osterix* and *osteocalcin 2* promoters to get insights in osteogenic effects at cellular level was established.

## 5.1 The zebrafish operculum: a powerful system to assess osteogenic bioactivities

A major objective of this work was to establish a simple, reproducible and reliable zebrafishbased screening method to assess the effects of extracts, fractions or molecules for osteogenic activity. Because they are surface bones that form early during development and can therefore be easily monitored in larval stages, opercula represent a skeletal structure with a high potential for high-throughput screening. The suitability of zebrafish alizarin red-stained opercula to screen for osteogenic compounds was established and the duration and initiation of larval exposure optimized. Analysis of the complete data set revealed that the osteogenic effects of calcitriol were not statistically different, regardless of duration or onset of exposure, indicating that a short (3 days) and early (3 dpf) exposure – a situation favoured in high throughput screening methods - was appropriate, although the other conditions were also suitable. In these economically favourable conditions (i.e. short exposure synonymous of a limited use of compound and early exposure synonymous of high animal turnover), operculum exhibited the highest growth increment (208 %), while the mortality associated with the housing conditions (e.g. limited space as larvae grow and degraded water quality due to static conditions) was minimal. Increased mortality observed for longer exposures or for older larvae has been principally associated with housing conditions but it may also be related to the point-of-no-return (PNR), when zebrafish larvae, after switching from endogenous nutritional reserves to exogenous feeding (5-7 dpf<sup>83</sup>), are not able to feed and recover even if food becomes available<sup>84</sup>. PNR is associated with increased mortality and screening should therefore end before this point to minimize stress and

avoid mortality not related to molecules or extracts. Accordingly, we propose that the screening, or the study, of osteogenic bioactivities in zebrafish should be initiated at 3 dpf and larvae exposed to the compounds to be tested for 3 days.

Alizarin red staining combined with morphometric approaches demonstrated to be an easy and accurate way to detect and quantify bone mineral deposition under fluorescence conditions, as already shown in previous studies.<sup>81</sup> Other techniques – e.g. X-rays or micro-computed tomography – have been used to image mineralized structures in zebrafish, but their application in the context of the methodology presented here may be difficult due to technical limitations, such as acquisition time (micro-CT) or low image resolution of poorly mineralized larvae (Xray).<sup>85,86</sup> This study also considered the necessity to correct for inter-specimen variability and, while several parameters were deemed appropriate, the area of the head proved to be superior to calibrate operculum area measurements, but also to be easily determined from the same set of images used to assess operculum area. Several studies have reported the use of alizarin red to screen for molecules with osteogenic and mineralogenic bioactivities in zebrafish. They assessed the mineralization of cranial bones in larvae exposed from 3 to 9 dpf<sup>87</sup> or the count of vertebral segments at 10 dpf<sup>88</sup> but none of these studies considered inter-specimen variability nor quantified accurately the osteogenic effect. They also failed to provide a high-throughput approach with long exposures, late endpoints and a laborious image acquisition, and therefore have a limited applicability for large-scale screening of molecules.

Calcitriol, the bioactive form of vitamin D, was used throughout this study to optimize the screening procedure but also to validate the mineralizing operculum as a suitable system to monitor osteogenic bioactivities. Calcitriol is a well-known osteogenic and anti-osteoporotic compound<sup>27,89,90</sup> that stimulates osteoblast growth and differentiation, and therefore bone formation *in vivo*<sup>91,92</sup> and mineralization *in vitro*.<sup>93,94</sup> Calcitriol also increases bone formation in zebrafish skeletal structures, such as in the perichordal sheath and coracoid processes, after exposure from 3 to 9 dpf (at concentration higher than 25 fg/mL)<sup>95</sup> and in maxilla, branchiostegal rays, hyomandibulars, entopterygoids and ceratohyals after exposure from 5 to 10 dpf (at 200 ng/mL).<sup>96</sup> A pro-osteogenic effect of calcitriol on zebrafish opercular development is reported here for the first time. Remarkably, the concentration used here (i.e. 0.01 fg/mL) is much lower than those previously tested,<sup>95,96</sup> suggesting that operculum may be more sensitive than other systems to the action of osteogenic compounds.

36

### **5.2** Cytotoxicity and proliferative effects

This is the first time that semi-purified fractions prepared from cardoon, eucalyptus and cyanobacteria, and molecules purified from these extracts (i.e. triterpenic acids and cynaropicrin) are tested in a fish cell line (VSa13) for their effects on cell viability and proliferation. Highest non-toxic concentrations were identified for each fraction and molecule. At the same concentrations, semi-purified fractions were less toxic than molecules purified from the same source (e.g. cardoon / cynaropicrin and eucalyptus / triterpenic acids), an observation probably related to the lower concentration of the molecules in the fractions combined with the lack of synergy in toxic effects. We also observed that, although identical or very similar in formula, triterpenic acids exhibited different levels of cytotoxicity, with ursolic acid strongly affecting cell survival at concentrations not toxic for other triterpenic acids, showing how subtle changes in molecule structure may trigger different biological responses. In this regard, mineralogenic and osteogenic effects of triterpenic acids were also found to be different (see below). None of the semi-purified fractions and purified molecules stimulated cell proliferation at the concentrations tested. On the contrary, an evident decrease of the number of cells upon exposure of subconfluent cultures to the highest concentrations of the semi-purified fractions and triterpenic acids was observed and while it could suggest an anti-proliferative effect we believe that it is most probably related to the toxic effect observed in confluent culture and intensified by the low cell density used in this assay (i.e.  $1 \times 10^3$  cell/well in proliferation assay versus  $3 \times 10^3$  in cytotoxicity assay). A microscopic observation of the cell cultures exposed to these concentrations showed changes in cell morphology compatible with a toxic effect (data not shown). A possible explanation would be that cells at low confluency have a higher surface exposed to the toxic action of the molecules, and would be therefore more vulnerable. Several studies based on different cancer cells lines have in fact demonstrated that the level of resistance to drugs correlates with the degree of cell confluence in monolayer cultures, this phenomena has been described as "confluence-dependent resistance".<sup>97,98</sup> In particular, it has been proposed that an increase in cell confluence alters passive diffusion across the cells membranes, resulting in a reduction of drug intake into the cells.<sup>98</sup> Another study suggested that cells at high confluence create a microenvironment (decrease of medium nutrients, changes of pH, oxygen) that may conduct to the development of a drug resistant phenotype.<sup>99,100</sup> Finally, cancer therapeutics were found to be more effective on rapidly dividing cells than on cells with a slow or suspended growth, e.g. cells in confluent cultures.<sup>101</sup>. Based on the data reported here and collected from the literature, we propose to limit the evaluation of fractions/molecules cytotoxic effect to dividing

cell cultures when high-throughput and/or material availability is an issue. This principle was applied to the evaluation of cyanobacteria extracts that were available in limited amounts.

Limited data is available on cytotoxic and proliferative effects of the semi-purified fractions and purified molecules analysed in this study. While none are available in cells systems of fish origin, some data have been collected in several mammalian cell lines although most of them are cancer-related cell lines not capable of in vitro mineralization. The lipophilic fraction of eucalyptus extract decreased the survival of human colorectal carcinoma cell line HCT116 (seeded in 24-well plates at  $8 \times 10^4$  cells/mL) after 2 days of exposure<sup>102</sup> at concentrations very similar to those reported for seabream bone cells VSa13 (i.e. 1 and 10 µg/mL of extract. Survival of human breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231 was reduced by half when exposed for 2 days to 259  $\mu$ g/mL of a methanol fraction of cardoon extract<sup>103</sup>, a value higher than the one determined in our fish mineralogenic cell system (IC50 was roughly estimated to 63 µg/mL using the formula published by Zeidan and Oran  $(2014)^{104}$ ). Differences could be related to the cellular context (cancer versus bone-derived cell lines), the duration of the exposure (2 days versus 9 days), the cell density in the culture  $(3 \times 10^5 \text{ versus } 3 \times 10^3 \text{ cells/well})$  and in the case of the cardoon extract, the solvent used (methanol versus dichloromethane). The exposure for 2 days to cynaropicrin of U937, Eol-1 and Jurkat T human leukocyte cancer cell lines (seeded at  $1 \times 10^5$  cell/well) decreased cell viability by half at concentrations of 1, 3.46 and 0.8 µg/mL respectively.<sup>105</sup> Survival of rat skeletal myoblast (L6-cells) was also reduced by 50% when exposed to 0.76 µg/mL of cynaropicrin for 3 days.<sup>106</sup> Although the comparative analysis of the data collected for cynaropicrin in fish *versus* mammalian systems may be difficult due to variable parameters, cell viability appeared to be drastically affected by concentrations higher than 1 µg/mL.

Few studies have reported cytotoxic and proliferative data in a context of *in vitro* mineralization or using cell lines derived from bone tissues (normal or tumor-related): Betulinic<sup>107</sup>, ursolic<sup>108</sup> and oleanolic<sup>109</sup> acids were evaluated in a murine calvaria-derived osteoblastic cell line (MC3T3-E1) known to mineralize its extracellular matrix and ethyl acetate fractions of several strains of cyanobacteria were tested in a human osteosarcoma cell line (MG-63). A comparative analysis of our data *versus* those from the literature is not easy because conditions – duration of the exposure, amount of molecules and density of cultured cells – are highly variable (the information related to the species of cyanobacteria used in this work are also not yet available). In agreement with the data collected in VSa13 cells, an exposure for 3 days of MC3T3-E1 cells (seeded at  $5 \times 10^3$  cells/well) to betulinic acid at concentrations ranging from 0.5 to 9 µg/mL did not affect cell viability or promoted proliferative effects.<sup>107</sup> Similarly, oleanolic acid had no cytotoxic or proliferative effect in MC3T3-E1 cells at concentrations ranging from 0.05 to 4.5  $\mu$ g/mL.<sup>109</sup> Ursolic acid was tested in MC3T3-E1 cells at a cell density similar to those of VSa13 cells (i.e.  $1 \times 10^3$  cells/well) but with a shorter exposure (3 days) and was reported to arrest cell-cycle at concentrations higher than 4.5  $\mu$ g/mL<sup>108</sup>, a result compatible with an IC50 of ursolic acid between 1 and 10  $\mu$ g/mL in VSa13 cells. Toxicity and proliferative effect of betulonic acid has not been tested in MC3T3-E1 cells or in any other bone-derived cells of mammalian origin, but has been evaluated in 3 prostate cancer cell lines (i.e. LNCaP, DU-145, and PC-3), where a concentration of 4.5  $\mu$ g/mL was found to decrease growth by 75%, 31% and 47%, respectively.<sup>110</sup> Again, a different cellular context, a different duration of the exposure and probably a different density of cells initially seeded could possibly explain the different sensitivities of fish and human cell lines to betulonic acid.

Crude extracts and semi-purified fractions of several strains of cyanobacteria have been tested in a large selection of human cancer cell lines.<sup>111</sup> Of particular interest for this work, ethyl acetate fractions were tested on the MG-63 osteosarcoma cell line, where they promoted cytotoxicity and a high anti-proliferative effect, suggesting the presence of molecules with potential anti-cancerous activities.<sup>112,113</sup> In this work, ethyl acetate fraction of strain #12 and to a lesser extent of strains #9 and #10 only decreased cell viability at a concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/mL while no effect was observed at a lower concentration found to affect human cancer cells, indicating that VSa13 cells, which are not cancer cells, are more resistant to cytotoxic effect of the molecules present in ethyl acetate fractions.

### 5.3 Mineralogenic action of extracts/molecules from natural resources

This is also the first time that semi-purified fractions from cardoon, eucalyptus and cyanobacteria, and purified molecules are tested in a fish cell line (VSa13) for their effects on extracellular matrix mineralization. While eucalyptus fraction and the molecules purified from the same extract (i.e. the triterpenic acids) exhibited a pro-mineralogenic effect (or no effect in the case of betulinic acid), cardoon fraction and cynaropicrin exhibited opposite mineralogenic effects, suggesting that the molecule responsible for the pro-mineralogenic effect of cardoon extract is not the cynaropicrin and remains to be identified. Also abundant in the lipophilic fraction of cardoon extract, taraxasteryl acetate is a pentacyclic triterpene<sup>71</sup> that could be the next molecule to be tested as a potential candidate for cardoon mineralogenic/osteogenic activity. While not mineralogenic in the context of the gilthead seabream VSa13 cells, betulinic acid stimulated ECM mineralization of the MC3T3-E1 cells at concentrations higher than  $2.28 \mu g/mL$ ,<sup>107</sup> concentrations not tested in our fish cell system (highest concentration tested was

1 µg/mL). At a concentration of 1 µg/mL, the mineralogenic potential of the other triterpenic acids in VSa13 cells was as followed: ursolic acid > betulonic acid > oleanolic acid. While this is the first time that a pro-mineralogenic effect is reported for betulonic acid *in vitro*, ursolic acid has already demonstrated its capacity to mineralize the extracellular matrix of MC3T3-E1 cells<sup>108</sup> at a concentration (1.14 µg/mL) and to an extent (6 fold) identical to those observed in fish cells. Mineralogenic effect of oleanolic acid has also been demonstrated, although not quantified, in MC3T3-E1 cell line at concentrations higher than 2.28 µg/mL<sup>109</sup>. This concentration was not tested in our *in vitro* cell system but 1 µg/mL stimulated ECM mineralization in VSa13 cells by more than 2 folds, indicating a similar pro-mineralogenic effect. Absence of mineralization in MC3T3-E1 cell exposed to 1.14 µg/mL could be related to the shorter exposure time (i.e. 14 days in mammalian cells *versus* 21 days in fish cells).

Regarding ethyl acetate fractions of cyanobacteria, only those from strains 8, 12 and 13 were found to slightly increase ECM mineralization of VSa13 cells at 1  $\mu$ g/mL. As for *in vitro* mineralization, data on the osteogenic effect of fractions/molecules derived from cyanobacteria are scarce, and only two studies have reported evidences toward a possible mineralogenic effect of compounds purified from cyanobacteria. Largazole<sup>114</sup> was shown to significantly induce the expression of alkaline phosphatase and osteopontin genes in murine pluripotent mesenchymal precursor C2C12 through the increased expression of Runx2 and BMPs. Biselyngbyaside<sup>115</sup> was found to inhibit osteoclastogenesis and to induces apoptosis of osteoclasts via pathways distinct of those from other macrolides that suppress osteoclastogenesis or induce osteoclast apoptosis.

Similarities between fish and mammalian cell systems regarding *in vitro* data suggest that molecular mechanisms related to extracellular matrix mineralization may have been conserved throughout evolution from fish to human, as also suggested in other studies<sup>116–118</sup>.

### 5.4 Osteogenic action of extracts/molecules from natural resources

The *in vivo* methodology developed and optimized within the scope of this work was successfully applied to the assessment of the osteogenic action of extracts/molecules from natural resources. The mineralogenic potential of the semi-purified fraction prepared from the cardoon was confirmed *in vivo* through an increase of zebrafish operculum size in larvae exposed to this extract. On the contrary, no osteogenic action of eucalyptus extract was observed, indicating that pro-mineralogenic molecules present in eucalyptus are probably not in sufficient amount to significantly affect operculum size and mineralization. It is worth to note that osteogenic effect of cardoon extract was weaker than its mineralogenic effect, indicating that *in* 

*vivo* system might be less sensitive; in this regard, it is not totally unexpected that the weak mineralogenic effect of eucalyptus extract *in vitro* was not translated into a significant osteogenic effect *in vivo*. While cardoon is a well-known source of bioactivities such as anti-tumoral<sup>72</sup>, anti-proliferative and anti-inflammatory properties<sup>73,74</sup>, this study show for the first time that it may also be used to stimulate bone formation and mineralization. In line with the anti-mineralogenic effect *in vivo*. Although this work aims at identifying compounds with bone anabolic potential and not compounds decreasing bone formation, cynaropicrin could have an application in pharmaceutics aiming at treating bone disorders characterized by an excess of bone formation e.g. osteopetrosis.<sup>13,119</sup> *In vivo* data collected for cynaropicrin indicated the suitability of the zebrafish operculum system to detect anti-osteogenic bioactivities. For example, it could be used to evaluate the osteotoxicity of environmental pollutants or anthropogenic chemicals before released in the environment.

Ursolic acid stimulated operculum formation in zebrafish, confirming the mineralogenic potential observed in vitro, and in agreement with the osteogenic effect observed in mouse calvaria. <sup>108</sup> In this system, ursolic acid was found to increase by 7 folds the formation of new woven bone after three weeks of treatment. The similar effect of ursolic acid in both in vivo systems indicates that mechanisms underlying its osteogenic action were conserved throughout evolution, from fish to mammals. It also confirms the suitability of fish systems to screen for osteogenic activities as an alternative or a complement of the classical mammalian systems (e.g. rodents). Moreover, osteogenic potential of ursolic acid could be revealed in zebrafish after only 3 days of exposure (3 weeks in mouse) confirming the high-throughput potential of the operculum system. The lack of osteogenic effect by betulonic acid evidenced by in vitro data was further confirmed in vivo by its incapacity to increase operculum formation. On the contrary, the strong mineralogenic effect of betulonic acid observed in vitro could not be reproduced in vivo possibly due to its elevated toxicity at mineralogenic concentration. Lower non-toxic concentrations did not show any effect, suggesting that betulonic acid may have a very limited range of effective concentrations or a complex mechanism of action. For the first time, oleanolic acid was shown to have an osteogenic action to an extent similar to that of the ursolic acid. We propose that this similar effect could be related to the chemical structure of the two molecules that differ just for the position of a methyl group on the E loop.<sup>66</sup>

## 5.5 Zebrafish transgenic lines to get insights into the osteogenic effect of purified molecules

This study also aimed at testing the suitability of transgenic zebrafish lines to get insights into the mechanisms underlying osteogenic effects observed in wild-type larvae stained with alizarin red. Among the several transgenic zebrafish lines available to study bone formation and skeletogenesis,<sup>45</sup> Tg(*osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP*) has already been successfully used to assess the role of immature/mature osteoblasts during de novo bone formation throughout zebrafish development<sup>10,39</sup> and caudal fin regeneration<sup>18</sup>. In the present report, we highlight the positive effect of calcitriol on osteoblast maturation in the developing operculum. A stimulation of osteocalcin transcription in osteoblasts upon exposure to calcitriol has already been reported in vitro in human and murine cell systems<sup>122</sup> and *in vivo* in transgenic mice<sup>92</sup>, and has been associated with the presence of binding elements for calcitriol receptor within the promoter of osteocalcin gene<sup>123,124</sup>. Osteocalcin is a bone matrix protein mainly produced by osteoblasts<sup>5,125</sup> involved in calcium<sup>126</sup> binding and consequently in bone matrix formation and mineralization<sup>127,128</sup>. It is probably a critical intermediate in the osteogenic effect of calcitriol on zebrafish operculum, as demonstrated by data collected from osteocalcin transgenic line. Although the analyses of the fluorescent area and pixel number provided comparable results (i.e. a stimulation of osteocalcin-related signal), we believe that area measurements are more appropriate to get a fast data acquisition – synonym of high-throughput – while analysis of pixel number is more time consuming but deliver more trustworthy data. The use of transgenic zebrafish lines - Tg(osx:mCherry/oc2:EGFP) lines or any of the zebrafish lines available to study bone marker genes – will certainly provide new insights into the mechanisms underlying the osteogenic effect of the molecules evaluated within the scope of this work.

### 6 Conclusions and future perspectives

Cytotoxic, proliferative, mineralogenic and osteogenic activities of semi-purified fractions (cardoon, eucalyptus and cyanobacteria) and molecules purified from these extracts (triterpenic acids and cynaropicrin) have been established using fish tools already available (i.e. gilthead seabream mineralogenic cell line) or developed within the scope of this work (i.e. developing zebrafish operculum). In vitro and in vivo data generated within the scope of this work has not only demonstrated the potential of natural resources (terrestrial or marine origin) to provide molecules with mineralogenic/osteogenic activity that may be used in pharmaceuticals or nutraceuticals but also the suitability of fish systems to screen for these molecules. Among the extracts/molecules evaluated in this work, several semi-purified fractions and some triterpenic acids exhibited pro-mineralogenic/osteogenic effects while cynaropicrin had the opposite effect, demonstrating the ability of our approach to uncover molecules with anabolic or catabolic effects on bone. Finally, we have developed and optimized a methodology to accurately and rapidly assess changes in the zebrafish operculum formation that can be applied to large-scale molecule screenings and complemented with the use of bone-specific transgenic zebrafish lines to get insights in the mechanisms underlying osteogenic effects. This methodology can be used as a pipeline to test more molecules/extracts (Figure 6.1).

Future work to pursue in order to advance on the screening of natural resources for osteogenic molecules could be related to:

- Test additional concentrations of the osteogenic molecules to determine the most effective concentration;
- Further purify osteogenic fractions toward the identification of novel osteogenic molecules;
- Explore the osteogenic potential of semi-purified fractions prepared from cyanobacteria extracts using hexane, methanol and a mixture 50:50 of ethyl acetate/methanol;
- Identify mechanisms of action of the osteogenic molecules using (1) zebrafish transgenic lines to uncover molecular and cellular determinants, (2) the CIGNAL reporter array (QIAGEN) to identify signalling pathways involved in molecule activity on bone and (3) quantitative real time PCR to evaluate the expression of bone-specific marker genes;
- Investigate in zebrafish operculum system the action of osteogenic molecules on osteoblast function by evaluating alkaline phosphatase (ALP) activity through colorimetric methods;

- Evaluate the role of osteoclast activity in the osteogenic effect observed in zebrafish operculum through the use of tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) staining or cathepsin K (*ctsk:GFP*) transgenic line;
- Further confirm the osteogenic potential of identified molecules on *de novo* bone formation using the capacity of zebrafish caudal fin to regenerate and formed new bony rays;
- Explore commercial applications for these molecules. More tests and data will be needed to confirm the potential of these molecules to improved bone status in human patients (e.g. tests in rodents then clinical tests in human) and a collaboration with a company specialized in the different procedures leading to the marketing of new pharmaceutics will be required. An application in the field of farmed animal nutrition may be possible at a shorter term as osteogenic extracts/molecules could be used to supplement existing diets (nutraceuticals) to improve skeletal status, e.g. reduce skeletal malformations or improve bone formation in farmed fish;
- Explore the applicability of the zebrafish operculum system to evaluate osteotoxicity of environmental pollutants.



Figure 6.1. Pipeline to assess the mineralogenic/osteogenic potential of extracts/compounds from natural resources.

### 7 References

- Robling, A. G.; Castillo, A. B.; Turner, C. H. Biomechanical and Molecular Regulation of Bone Remodeling. *Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng.* 2006, 8 (1), 455–498.
- (2) Rodan, G. A. Introduction to Bone Biology. *Bone* **1992**, *13 Suppl 1*, S3–S6.
- (3) Florencio-Silva, R.; Sasso, G. R. da S.; Sasso-Cerri, E.; et al. Biology of Bone Tissue: Structure, Function, and Factors That Influence Bone Cells. *Biomed Res. Int.* **2015**, *2015*, 1–17.
- (4) Civitelli, R. Cell–cell Communication in the Osteoblast/osteocyte Lineage. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 2008, 473 (2), 188–192.
- Capulli, M.; Paone, R.; Rucci, N. Osteoblast and Osteocyte: Games without Frontiers. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 2014, 561, 3–12.
- Salgado, A. J.; Coutinho, O. P.; Reis, R. L. Bone Tissue Engineering: State of the Art and Future Trends. *Macromol. Biosci.* 2004, *4* (8), 743–765.
- (7) Hall, B. K. *Bones and Cartilage*, 2nd ed.; Elsevier Inc., 2015.
- (8) Nicholls, J. J.; Brassill, M. J.; Williams, G. R.; et al. The Skeletal Consequences of Thyrotoxicosis. J. Endocrinol. 2012, 213, 209–221.
- (9) Dallas, S. L.; Prideaux, M.; Bonewald, L. F. The Osteocyte: An Endocrine Cell . . . and More. *Endocr. Rev.* 2013, 34 (5), 658–690.
- Walsh, N. C.; Gravallese, E. M. Bone Remodeling in Rheumatic Disease: A Question of Balance. *Immunol. Rev.* 2010, 233 (1), 301–312.
- (11) Boyce, B. F.; Hughes, D. E.; Wright, K. R.; et al. Recent Advances in Bone Biology Provide Insight into the Pathogenesis of Bone Diseases. *Lab. Invest.* **1999**, *79* (2), 83–94.
- (12) Boyle, W. J.; Simonet, W. S.; Lacey, D. L. Osteoclast Differentiation and Activiation. *Nature* 2003, 423 (6937), 337–342.
- (13) Feng, X.; McDonald, J. M. Disorders of Bone Remodeling. Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis. 2011, 6 (1), 121–145.
- (14) Ornitz, D.; Marie, P. FGF Signaling Pathways in Endochondral and Intramembranous Bone Development and Human Genetic Disease. *Genes Dev.* 2002, 1446–1465.
- (15) Sutcliffe, A. Paget's: The Neglected Bone Disease. Int. J. Orthop. Trauma Nurs. 2010, 14 (3), 142–149.
- (16) Tolar, J.; Teitelbaum, S. L.; Orchard, P. J. Osteopetrosis. N Engl J Med 2004, 351 (27), 2839–2849.
- (17) Nield, L. S.; Mahajan, P.; Joshi, A.; et al. Rickets: Not a Disease of the Past. *Am. Fam. Physician* 2006, 74 (4), 619–626.
- (18) Pisani, P.; Renna, M. D.; Conversano, F.; et al. Screening and Early Diagnosis of Osteoporosis through X-Ray and Ultrasound Based Techniques. *World J. Radiol.* **2013**, *5* (11), 398–410.
- (19) National Institutes of Health. Osteoporosis Prevention, Diagnosis, and Therapy. JAMA 2001, 285, 785–795.
- (20) Tung, W. C.; Lee, I. F. K. Effects of an Osteoporosis Educational Programme for Men. J. Adv. Nurs. 2006, 56 (1), 26–34.
- (21) Mohammed, E. K.; Ellife, H. A.; Lawend, J. Female Adolescent Nursing Students 'Guidelines about Prevention of Osteoporosis. J. Nat. Sci. Res. 2014, 4 (4), 1–11.

- (22) Montero-Odasso, M.; Duque, G. Vitamin D in the Aging Musculoskeletal System: An Authentic Strength Preserving Hormone. *Mol. Aspects Med.* 2005, 26 (3), 203–219.
- (23) Fleisch, H. Bisphosphonates in Osteoporosis. Eur. Spine J. 2003, 12 (2), 142–146.
- McClung, M. R. Denosumab in Postmenopausal Women with Low Bone Mineral Density Reply. N. Engl. J. Med. 2006, 354 (8), 821–831.
- (25) Miller, P. D.; Chines, A. A.; Christiansen, C.; et al. Effects of Bazedoxifene on BMD and Bone Turnover in Postmenopausal Women: 2-Yr Results of a Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-, and Active-Controlled Study. J. Bone Miner. Res. 2008, 23 (4), 525–535.
- (26) Marie, P. J. Strontium Ranelate: New Insights into Its Dual Mode of Action. *Bone* 2007, 40 (5), S5–S8.
- (27) Bernabei, R. Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment of Osteoporosis : A Brief Review. *Clin. Cases Miner. Bone Metab.* 2014, *11* (3), 201–207.
- (28) Cragg, G. M.; Newman, D. J. Natural Products: A Continuing Source of Novel Drug Leads. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 2013, *1830* (6), 3670–3695.
- (29) Pomponi, S. The Oceans and Human Health: The Discovery and Development of Marine-Derived Drugs. Oceanography 2001, 14 (1), 78–87.
- (30) Trindade, M.; van Zyl, L. J.; Navarro-Fernández, J.; et al. Targeted Metagenomics as a Tool to Tap into Marine Natural Product Diversity for the Discovery and Production of Drug Candidates. *Front. Microbiol.* 2015, 6, 1–14.
- (31) Butler, M. S.; Robertson, A. A. B.; Cooper, M. A. Natural Product and Natural Product Derived Drugs in Clinical Trials. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **2014**, *31* (11), 1612–1661.
- (32) Lahlou, M. The Success of Natural Products in Drug Discovery. *Pharmacol. Pharm.* 2013, 4, 17–31.
- (33) Müller-Kuhrt, L. Putting Nature Back into Drug Discovery. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2003**, *21* (6), 602.
- (34) Hughes, J.; Rees, S.; Kalindjian, S.; et al. Principles of Early Drug Discovery. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 2011, *162*(6), 1239–1249.
- Li, A. P. Preclinical *in Vitro* Screening Assays for Drug-like Properties. *Drug Discov. Today Technol.* 2005, 2 (2), 179–185.
- (36) Burch, J.; Rice, S.; Yang, H.; et al. Systematic Review of the Use of Bone Turnover Markers for Monitoring the Response to Osteoporosis Treatment: The Secondary Prevention of Fractures, and Primary Prevention of Fractures in High-Risk Groups. *Health Technol. Assess. (Rockv).* 2014, *18* (11), 1–180.
- (37) Wehrli, F. W. Structural and Functional Assessment of Trabecular and Cortical Bone by Micro Magnetic Resonance Imaging. J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 2007, 25 (2), 390–409.
- (38) Gomes, P. S.; Fernandes, M. H. Rodent Models in Bone-Related Research: The Relevance of Calvarial Defects in the Assessment of Bone Regeneration Strategies. *Lab. Anim.* **2011**, *45* (1), 14–24.
- (39) Walker, M. B.; Kimmel, C. B. A Two-Color Acid-Free Cartilage and Bone Stain for Zebrafish Larvae. *Biotech. Histochem.* 2007, 82 (1), 23–28.
- (40) Howe, K.; Clark, M.; Torroja, C.; et al. The Zebrafish Reference Genome Sequence and Its Relationship to the Human Genome. *Nature* 2013, 496 (7446), 498–503.
- (41) Laizé, V.; Gavaia, P. J.; Cancela, M. L. Fish: A Suitable System to Model Human Bone Disorders and Discover Drugs with Osteogenic or Osteotoxic Activities. *Drug Discov. Today Dis. Model.* 2014, 13, 29–37.
- (42) Parenti, L. R. The Phylogenetic Significance of Bone Types in Euteleost Fishes. Zool. J. Linn. Soc. 1986,

87, 37–51.

- (43) Kimmel, C. B.; DeLaurier, A.; Ullmann, B.; et al. Modes of Developmental Outgrowth and Shaping of a Craniofacial Bone in Zebrafish. *PLoS One* **2010**, *5* (3), e9475.
- (44) Kranenbarg, S.; van Cleynenbreugel, T.; Schipper, H.; et al. Adaptive Bone Formation in Acellular Vertebrae of Sea Bass (*Dicentrarchus Labrax L.*). *J. Exp. Biol.* **2005**, *208* (18), 3493–3502.
- (45) Hammond, C. L.; Moro, E. Using Transgenic Reporters to Visualize Bone and Cartilage Signaling during Development *in Vivo. Front. Endocrinol.* **2012**, *3*, 91.
- (46) Eames, B. F.; DeLaurier, A.; Ullmann, B.; et al. FishFace: Interactive Atlas of Zebrafish Craniofacial Development at Cellular Resolution. *BMC Dev. Biol.* **2013**, *13* (1), 23.
- (47) Renn, J.; Büttner, A.; To, T. T.; et al. A col10a1:nlGFP Transgenic Line Displays Putative Osteoblast Precursors at the Medaka Notochordal Sheath prior to Mineralization. *Dev. Biol.* **2013**, *381* (1), 134–143.
- (48) Kartsogiannis, V.; Ng, K. W. Cell Lines and Primary Cell Cultures in the Study of Bone Cell Biology. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 2004, 228 (1), 79–102.
- (49) Fournier, B.; Price, P. A. Characterization of a New Human Osteosarcoma Cell Line OHS-4. J. Cell Biol. 1991, 114 (3), 577–583.
- (50) Costa, A. M.; Fernandes, H. M. Long-Term Effects of Parathyroid Hormone, 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin d3, and Dexamethasone on the Cell Growth and Functional Activity of Human Osteogenic Alveolar Bone Cell Cultures. *Pharmacol. Res.* 2000, 42 (4), 345–353.
- (51) Kellermann, O.; Buc-Caron, M.; Marie, P.; et al. An Immortalized Osteogenic Cell Line Derived from Mouse Teratocarcinoma Is Able to Mineralize *In Vivo* and *In Vitro* Biochemical Measurements of cAMP Southern Blot Hybridization of Genomic DNA. *J. Cell Biol.* **1990**, *110* (21), 123–132.
- (52) Rafael, M. S.; Marques, C. L.; Parameswaran, V.; et al. Fish Bone-Derived Cell Lines: An Alternative *in Vitro* Cell System to Study Bone Biology. *J. Appl. Ichthyol.* 2010, 26 (2), 230–234.
- (53) Lakra, W. S.; Swaminathan, T. R.; Joy, K. P. Development, Characterization, Conservation and Storage of Fish Cell Lines: A Review. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.* **2011**, *37* (1), 1–20.
- (54) Pombinho, A. R.; Laizé, V.; Molha, D. M.; et al. Development of Two Bone-Derived Cell Lines from the Marine Teleost Sparus Aurata. *Cell Tissue Res.* 2004, *315* (3), 393–406.
- (55) Conceição, N.; Laizé, V.; Simões, B.; et al. Retinoic Acid Is a Negative Regulator of Matrix Gla Protein Gene Expression in Teleost Fish *Sparus Aurata*. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 2008, *1779*, 28–39.
- (56) Fernández, I.; Tiago, D. M.; Laizé, V.; et al. Retinoic Acid Differentially Affects *in Vitro* Proliferation, Differentiation and Mineralization of Two Fish Bone-Derived Cell Lines: Different Gene Expression of Nuclear Receptors and ECM Proteins. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **2014**, *140*, 34–43.
- (57) Viegas, M. N.; Dias, J.; Cancela, M. L.; et al. Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Regulate Cell Proliferation, Extracellular Matrix Mineralization and Gene Expression in a Gilthead Seabream Skeletal Cell Line. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 2012, 28 (3), 427–432.
- (58) Tiago, D. M.; Cancela, M. L.; Aureliano, M.; et al. Vanadate Proliferative and Anti-Mineralogenic Effects Are Mediated by MAPK and PI-3K/Ras/Erk Pathways in a Fish Chondrocyte Cell Line. *FEBS Lett.* 2008, 582 (9), 1381–1385.
- (59) Suzuki, N.; Suzuki, T.; Kurokawa, T. Suppression of Osteoclastic Activities by Calcitonin in the Scales of Goldfish (Freshwater Teleost) and Nibbler Fish (Seawater Teleost). *Peptides* 2000, 21 (1), 115–124.

- (60) Suzuki, N.; Hattori, A. Bisphenol a Suppresses Osteoclastic and Osteoblastic Activities in the Cultured Scales of Goldfish. *Life Sci.* 2003, 73, 2237–2247.
- (61) Metz, J. R.; de Vrieze, E.; Lock, E. J.; et al. Elasmoid Scales of Fishes as Model in Biomedical Bone Research. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 2012, 28 (3), 382–387.
- (62) Domingues, R. M. A.; Sousa, G. D. A.; Silva, C. M.; et al. High Value Triterpenic Compounds from the Outer Barks of Several Eucalyptus Species Cultivated in Brazil and in Portugal. *Ind. Crops Prod.* 2011, *33* (1), 158–164.
- (63) Freire, C. S. R.; Silvestre, A. J. D.; Neto, C. P.; et al. Lipophilic Extractives of the Inner and Outer Barks of *Eucalyptus Globulus. Holzforschung* 2002, *56* (4), 372–379.
- (64) Dzubak, P.; Hajduch, M.; Vydra, D.; et al. Pharmacological Activities of Natural Triterpenoids and Their Therapeutic Implications. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* 2006, 23 (3), 394–411.
- (65) Jäger, S.; Trojan, H.; Kopp, T.; et al. Pentacyclic Triterpene Distribution in Various Plants Rich Sources for a New Group of Multi-Potent Plant Extracts. *Molecules* **2009**, *14* (6), 2016–2031.
- (66) Li, J.; Guo, W.-J.; Yang, Q.-Y. Effects of Ursolic Acid and Oleanolic Acid on Human Colon Carcinoma Cell Line HCT15. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 2002, 8 (3), 493–495.
- (67) Sogno, I.; Vannini, N.; Lorusso, G.; et al. Anti-Angiogenic Activity of a Novel Class of Chemopreventive Compounds: Oleanic Acid Terpenoids. *Recent Results Cancer Res.* **2009**, *181*, 209–212.
- (68) Tolstikova, T. G.; Sorokina, I. V; Tolstikov, G. a; et al. Biological Activity and Pharmacological Prospects of Lupane Terpenoids: II. Semisynthetic Lupane Derivatives. *Bioorg. Khim.* **2006**, *32* (1), 291–307.
- (69) Kashiwada, Y.; Wang, H. K.; Nagao, T.; et al. Anti-AIDS Agents, 30. Anti-HIV Activity of Oleanolic Acid, Pomolic Acid, and Structurally Related Triterpenoids. J. Nat. Prod. 1998, 61 (9), 1090–1095.
- (70) Hashimoto, F.; Kashiwada, Y.; Cosentino, L. M.; et al. Anti-AIDS Agents--XXVII. Synthesis and Anti-HIV Activity of Betulinic Acid and Dihydrobetulinic Acid Derivatives. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 1997, 5 (12), 2133– 2143.
- (71) Ramos, P. A. B.; Guerra, A. R.; Guerreiro, O.; et al. Lipophilic Extracts of *Cynara Cardunculus* L. Var. *Altilis* (DC): A Source of Valuable Bioactive Terpenic Compounds. J. Agric. Food Chem. 2013, 61, 8420–8429.
- (72) Choi, S. Z.; Choi, S. U.; Lee, K. R. Cytotoxic Sesquiterpene Lactones from Saussurea Calcicola. Arch. Pharm. Res. 2005, 28 (10), 1142–1146.
- (73) Suchy, M.; Herout, V.; Sorm, F. Terpenes. CVI. Hydrogenation Products of Cynaropicrin, the Bitter Principle of Artichoke (*Cynara Scolymus*). Sect. Title Org. Chem. Terpenes 1960, 25, 507–514.
- (74) Cho, J. Y.; Baik, K. U.; Jung, J. H.; et al. *In Vitro* Anti-Inflammatory Effects of Cynaropicrin, a Sesquiterpene Lactone, from Saussurea Lappa. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 2000, 398 (3), 399–407.
- (75) Gademann, K.; Portmann, C. Secondary Metabolites from Cyanobacteria: Complex Structures and Powerful Bioactivities. *Curr. Org. Chem.* 2008, *12* (4), 326–341.
- Singh, R. K.; Tiwari, S. P.; Rai, A. K.; et al. Cyanobacteria: An Emerging Source for Drug Discovery. J. *Antibiot. (Tokyo).* 2011, 64 (6), 401–412.
- (77) Salvador, L. A.; Paul, V. J.; Luesch, H. Caylobolide B, a Macrolactone from Symplostatin 1-Producing Marine Cyanobacteria Phormidium Spp. from Florida. J. Nat. Prod. 2010, 73 (9), 1606–1609.
- (78) Asthana, R. K.; Srivastava, A.; Kayastha, A. M.; et al. Antibacterial Potential of γ-Linolenic Acid from

Fischerella Sp. Colonizing Neem Tree Bark. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2005, 22 (5), 443-448.

- (79) Xiong, C.; O'Keefe, B. R.; Byrd, R. A.; et al. Potent Anti-HIV Activity of Scytovirin Domain 1 Peptide. *Peptides* 2006, 27 (7), 1668–1675.
- (80) Sihvonen, L. M.; Lyra, C.; Fewer, D. P.; et al. Strains of the Cyanobacterial Genera *Calothrix* and Rivularia Isolated from the Baltic Sea Display Cryptic Diversity and Are Distantly Related to Gloeotrichia and Tolypothrix. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* **2007**, *61* (1), 74–84.
- (81) Bensimon-Brito, A.; Cardeira, J.; Dionísio, G.; et al. Revisiting *in Vivo* Staining with Alizarin Red S A Valuable Approach to Analyse Zebrafish Skeletal Mineralization during Development and Regeneration. *BMC Dev. Biol.* 2016, 16 (1), 2.
- (82) Rasband, W. S. ImageJ. U. S. Natl. Institutes Heal. Bethesda, Maryland, USA http://imagej.nih.gov/ij/.
- (83) Lawrence, C. The Husbandry of Zebrafish (Danio Rerio): A Review. Aquaculture 2007, 269 (1-4), 1–20.
- (84) Gerking, S. D. Feeding Ecology of Fish; Elsevier, 2014.
- (85) Hosen, M. J.; Vanakker, O. M.; Willaert, A.; et al. Zebrafish Models for Ectopic Mineralization Disorders:
   Practical Issues from Morpholino Design to Post-Injection Observations. *Front. Genet.* 2013, *4*, 74.
- (86) Bruneel, B.; Witten, P. E. Power and Challenges of Using Zebrafish as a Model for Skeletal Tissue Imaging. *Connect. Tissue Res.* 2015, 56 (2), 161–173.
- (87) Luo, S.; Yang, Y.; Chen, J.; et al. Tanshinol Stimulates Bone Formation and Attenuates Dexamethasone-Induced Inhibition of Osteogenesis in Larval Zebrafish. *J. Orthop. Transl.* **2016**, *4*, 35–45.
- (88) Yu, P. B.; Hong, C. C.; Sachidanandan, C.; et al. Dorsomorphin Inhibits BMP Signals Required for Embryogenesis and Iron Metabolism. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 2008, 4 (1), 33–41.
- (89) Gatzeva-topalova, P. Z.; Warner, L. R.; Pardi, A.; et al. The Efficacy of Calcitriol Therapy in the Management of Bone Loss and Fractures: A Qualitative Review. 2011, 18 (11), 1492–1501.
- (90) Holick, M. F.; Binkley, N. C.; Bischoff-Ferrari, H. A.; et al. Evaluation, Treatment, and Prevention of Vitamin D Deficiency: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2011, 96 (7), 1911–1930.
- (91) Liu, H.; Cui, J.; Feng, W.; et al. Local Administration of Calcitriol Positively Influences Bone Remodeling and Maturation during Restoration of Mandibular Bone Defects in Rats. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C* 2015, *49*, 14–24.
- (92) Nakanishi, T.; Saito, R.; Taniguchi, M.; et al. *In Vivo* Determination of Vitamin D Function Using Transgenic Mice Carrying a Human Osteocalcin Luciferase Reporter Gene. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2013, 2013, 895706.
- (93) Woeckel, V. J.; Alves, R. D. A. M.; Swagemakers, S. M. A.; et al. 1α,25-(OH)2D3 Acts in the Early Phase of Osteoblast Differentiation to Enhance Mineralization via Accelerated Production of Mature Matrix Vesicles. J. Cell. Physiol. 2010, 225 (2), 593–600.
- (94) Bosetti, M.; Boccafoschi, F.; Leigheb, M.; et al. Effect of Different Growth Factors on Human Osteoblasts Activities: A Possible Application in Bone Regeneration for Tissue Engineering. *Biomol. Eng.* 2007, 24 (6), 613–618.
- (95) Fleming, A.; Sato, M.; Goldsmith, P. High-Throughput *in Vivo* Screening for Bone Anabolic Compounds with Zebrafish. J. Biomol. Screen. 2005, 10 (8), 823–831.
- (96) Aceto, J.; Nourizadeh-Lillabadi, R.; Marée, R.; et al. Zebrafish Bone and General Physiology Are Differently Affected by Hormones or Changes in Gravity. *PLoS One* **2015**, *10* (6), e0126928.

- (97) Fang, Y.; Sullivan, R.; Graham, C. H. Confluence-Dependent Resistance to Doxorubicin in Human MDA-MB-231 Breast Carcinoma Cells Requires Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1 Activity. *Exp. Cell Res.* 2007, *313* (5), 867–877.
- (98) Pelletier, H.; Millot, J.; Chauffert, B.; et al. Mechanisms of Resistance of Confluent Human and Rat Colon Cancer Cells to Anthracyclines : Alteration of Drug Passive Diffusion Mechanisms of Resistance of Confluent Human and Rat Colon Cancer Cells to Anthracyclines : Alteration of Drug Passive Diffusion. 1990, 6626–6631.
- (99) Ogiso, Y.; Tomida, A.; Lei, S.; et al. Proteasome Inhibition Circumvents Solid Tumor Resistance to Topoisomerase II-Directed Drugs. *Cancer Res.* 2000, 60 (9), 2429–2434.
- (100) Matthews, N. E.; Adams, M. A.; Maxwell, L. R.; et al. Nitric Oxide-Mediated Regulation of Chemosensitivity in Cancer Cells. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2001, 93 (24), 1879–1885.
- (101) Tomida, A; Tsuruo, T. Drug Resistance Mediated by Cellular Stress Response to the Microenvironment of Solid Tumors. *Anticancer. Drug Des.* **1999**, *14* (2), 169–177.
- (102) Pereira, J. G. Anticancer Potential of the Triterpenic Fraction of Eucalyptus Bark Extracts in Colorectal Cancer Cells, MSc thesis, Universidade do Minho, 2013.
- (103) Velez, Z.; Campinho, M.; Guerra, Â.; et al. Biological Characterization of Cynara Cardunculus L. Methanolic Extracts: Antioxidant, Anti-Proliferative, Anti-Migratory and Anti-Angiogenic Activities. *Agriculture* **2012**, *2* (4), 472–492.
- (104) Rana, Z.; Sawsan, O. Antioxidant Activity of Leaf and Fruit Extracts of Jordanian Rubus Sanguineus Friv.
   (Rosaceae). J. Med. Plants Res. 2014, 8 (39), 1179–1190.
- (105) Cho, J. Y.; Kim, A. R.; Jung, J. H.; et al. Cytotoxic and pro-Apoptotic Activities of Cynaropicrin, a Sesquiterpene Lactone, on the Viability of Leukocyte Cancer Cell Lines. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 2004, 492 (2-3), 85–94.
- (106) Zimmermann, S.; Fouch, G.; De Mieri, M.; et al. Structure-Activity Relationship Study of Sesquiterpene Lactones and Their Semi-Synthetic Amino Derivatives as Potential Antitrypanosomal Products. *Molecules* 2014, 19 (3), 3523–3538.
- (107) Lo, Y. C.; Chang, Y. H.; Wei, B. L.; et al. Betulinic Acid Stimulates the Differentiation and Mineralization of Osteoblastic MC3T3-E1 Cells: Involvement of BMP/Runx2 and β-Catenin Signals. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2010, 58 (11), 6643–6649.
- (108) Lee, S. U.; Park, S. J.; Kwak, H. B.; et al. Anabolic Activity of Ursolic Acid in Bone: Stimulating Osteoblast Differentiation *in Vitro* and Inducing New Bone Formation *in Vivo. Pharmacol. Res.* 2008, 58 (5-6), 290– 296.
- (109) Kim, S. W.; Lee, C. H.; Jung, H. K.; et al. Effects of Oleanolic Acid and Its Derivatives on the Differentiation of MC3T3-E1 Osteoblastic Cell. 2011, 19 (6).
- (110) Saxena, B. B.; Zhu, L.; Hao, M.; et al. Boc-Lysinated-Betulonic Acid: A Potent, Anti-Prostate Cancer Agent. *Bioorganic Med. Chem.* 2006, *14* (18), 6349–6358.
- (111) Costa, M.; Garcia, M.; Costa-Rodrigues, J.; et al. Exploring Bioactive Properties of Marine Cyanobacteria Isolated from the Portuguese Coast: High Potential as a Source of Anticancer Compounds. 2014, 12, 98– 114.
- (112) Matthew, S.; Schupp, P. J.; Luesch, H. Apratoxin E, a Cytotoxic Peptolide from a Guamanian Collection of

the Marine Cyanobacterium Lyngbya Bouillonii. J. Nat. Prod. 2008, 71 (6), 1113–1116.

- (113) Malloy, K. L.; Villa, F. A.; Engene, N.; et al. Malyngamide 2, an Oxidized Lipopeptide with Nitric Oxide Inhibiting Activity from a Papua New Guinea Marine Cyanobacterium. **2011**, 72 (1), 95–98.
- (114) Lee, S.; Kwak, H. B.; Pi, S.; et al. In Vitro and In Vivo Osteogenic Activity of Largazole. 2011, 248–251.
- (115) Yonezawa, T.; Mase, N.; Sasaki, H.; et al. Biselyngbyaside, Isolated From Marine Cyanobacteria, Inhibits Osteoclastogenesis and Induces Apoptosis in Mature Osteoclasts. *Cell. Biochem.* **2012**, 448, 440–448.
- (116) Renn, J.; Winkler, C.; Schartl, M.; et al. Zebrafish and Medaka as Models for Bone Research Including Implications Regarding Space-Related Issues. *Protoplasma* 2006, 229 (2-4), 209–214.
- Rafael, M. S.; Laizé, V.; Cancela, M. L. Identification of *Sparus Aurata* Bone Morphogenetic Protein 2: Molecular Cloning, Gene Expression and in Silico Analysis of Protein Conserved Features in Vertebrates. *Bone* 2006, *39* (6), 1373–1381.
- (118) Tiago, D.; Laizé, V.; Bargelloni, L.; et al. Global Analysis of Gene Expression in Mineralizing Fish Vertebra-Derived Cell Lines: New Insights into Anti-Mineralogenic Effect of Vanadate. *BMC Genomics* 2011, *12* (310).
- (119) Stark, Z.; Savarirayan, R. Osteopetrosis. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 2009, 4 (1), 5.
- (120) Knopf, F.; Hammond, C.; Chekuru, A.; et al. Bone Regenerates via Dedifferentiation of Osteoblasts in the Zebrafish Fin. *Dev. Cell* 2011, 20 (5), 713–724.
- (121) Bensimon-Brito, A.; Cardeira, J.; Cancela, L.; et al. Distinct Patterns of Notochord Mineralization in Zebrafish Coincide with the Localization of Osteocalcin Isoform 1 during Early Vertebral Centra Formation. *BMC Dev. Biol.* 2012, *12* (1), 28.
- (122) Thomas, G. P.; Bourne, A.; Eisman, J. A.; et al. Species-Divergent Regulation of Human and Mouse Osteocalcin Genes by Calciotropic Hormones. *Exp. Cell Res.* **2000**, *258* (2), 395–402.
- (123) Yoon, K. G.; Rutledge, S. J.; Buenaga, R. F.; et al. Characterization of the Rat Osteocalcin Gene: Stimulation of Promoter Activity by 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3. *Biochemistry* 1988, 27 (23), 8521–8526.
- (124) Lian, J.; Stewart, C.; Puchacz, E.; et al. Structure of the Rat Osteocalcin Gene and Regulation of Vitamin D-Dependent Expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1989**, 86 (2), 1143–1147.
- (125) Long, F. Building Strong Bones: Molecular Regulation of the Osteoblast Lineage. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2011**, *13* (1), 27–38.
- (126) Hoang, Q. Q.; Sicheri, F.; Howard, A. J.; et al. Bone Recognition Mechanism of Porcine Osteocalcin from Crystal Structure. *Nature* 2003, 425 (6961), 977–980.
- (127) Razzaque, M. S. Osteocalcin: A Pivotal Mediator or an Innocent Bystander in Energy Metabolism? *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 2011, 26 (1), 42–45.
- (128) Gavaia, P. J.; Simes, D. C.; Ortiz-Delgado, J. B.; et al. Osteocalcin and Matrix Gla Protein in Zebrafish (*Danio Rerio*) and Senegal Sole (*Solea Senegalensis*): Comparative Gene and Protein Expression during Larval Development through Adulthood. *Gene Expr. Patterns* 2006, 6 (6), 637–652.